Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Charlene M. Coleman

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Ronald Black, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Irene Williams, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D. Abstract

Managing Employee Morale After Organizational Downsizing

by

Charlene M. Coleman

MS, University of Maryland University College, 2005 BS, SUNY College at Old Westbury, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2023

Abstract

Business leaders who lack effective strategies to manage employee morale after downsizing may encounter feelings of distrust, disloyalty, and job insecurity from employees, resulting in decreased productivity. This decrease in productivity can cost an organization millions of dollars. Grounded in transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing. The participants comprised three business leaders in central Maryland who successfully used a strategy to improve employee morale after downsizing within the past 5 years. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and a review of public financial reports and company information. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data, and three themes emerged: effective communication, team building, and training and support. A key recommendation for business leaders is to open lines of upward communication to understand the emotional state of the employees better. The implications for positive social change include the potential to protect the emotional and physical health of the employees in support of the local communities and families.

Managing Employee Morale After Organizational Downsizing

by

Charlene M. Coleman

MS, University of Maryland University College, 2005 BS, SUNY College at Old Westbury,

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2023

Dedication

I dedicate this first and foremost to my Lord and Savior who created this path in my purview and allowed me this opportunity to complete such a beautiful journey. I accept this doctorate on behalf of my family, who believed in me and pushed me to new limits that allowed this wonderful opportunity to come to fruition. I especially want to thank my two children who graciously excused me from many family events and celebrations due to my obligations to my studies. Your patience has not gone unnoticed. A special thanks to my mother who offered non-stop encouragement and envisioned the day I would receive this honorable award. Mom, you have always pushed me to new limits, and I am so grateful for the hard work ethic that you have instilled in me. To my dad in heaven, I see you smiling down with pride at this wonderful event as I recall how your never-quit determination shaped my perceptions of the world even as a child. It provided the will in me to continue through this long, sometimes stressful journey. May the Lord continue to Bless me and my family.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my Heavenly Father for giving me the willpower to pursue and complete a doctorate degree. Without Him, I would not have had the strength to persevere and reach this milestone. I would like to graciously thank and acknowledge my family for the encouragement and unwavering support during this incredible journey, especially my mother. You persuaded me to keep going and push through and because of your dedication, the mission has been accomplished. I want to thank my sons Erik and Jamel, for motivating me and reminding me of my many lectures to them on commitment and persistence. I am so proud of you both, even more so at this moment, for I am looking forward to seeing your greatness. I would like to thank my all the members of my committee, especially Dr. Black, for all the advice and guidance provided during my doctoral journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Williams for her expertise and direction that helped me to reach the pinnacle of this journey. I am forever grateful.

Lis	st of Tablesiv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Studyiv
	Background of the Problem1
	Problem and Purpose
	Population and Sampling
	Nature of the Study
	Research Question
	Interview Questions
	Conceptual Framework
	Operational Definitions
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations9
	Assumptions9
	Limitations9
	Delimitations9
	Significance of the Study10
	Contribution to Business Practice10
	Implications for Social Change11
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
	Transformational Leadership
	Transactional Leadership17
	Organizational Downsizing

Table of Contents

Workplace Survivor Syndrome	
Transition	41
Section 2: The Project	43
Purpose Statement	43
Role of the Researcher	43
Participants	47
Research Method and Design	48
Research Method	48
Research Design	49
Population and Sampling	51
Ethical Research	
Data Collection Instruments	55
Data Collection Technique	56
Data Organization Technique	59
Data Analysis	60
Reliability and Validity	62
Reliability	
Validity	63
Transition and Summary	66
Section 3: Applications to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	67
Presentation of the Findings	67
Applications to Professional Practice	75

Implications for Social Change	77
Recommendations for Action	79
Recommendations for Further Research	80
Reflections	
Conclusion	
References	83
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Resources	12
Table 2. Strategies Used to Manage Employee Morale After Downsizing	68

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders downsize to enhance their strategic business performance by reducing business costs with the intention of retaining core competencies and desired talents of the remaining staff members (Wegerer, 2018). Business leaders need to acknowledge that downsizing may reduce the cost of doing business by reducing headcount but may also yield less than desirable results in other areas, if not executed properly. The remaining staff after downsizing are integral to continued organizational success (Son, 2018). Business leaders must develop strategies to manage the morale of the surviving staff to reduce the knowledge loss that results when experienced downsizing occurs (Drucker, 1999). In this study, I analyzed the measures leaders take to increase the sense of (a) belonging, (b) self-awareness, and (c) commitment among the remaining staff after downsizing to minimize the impact on business. Findings from this study may help business leaders to better understand the different strategies for managing morale and to achieve the best possible performance from the remaining staff.

Background of the Problem

Organizations are consistently searching for ways that downsizing may help to maintain company relevance. The popularity of downsizing has evolved into more than a last resort to cut costs and increase profitability (Nègre et al., 2017). Many companies use downsizing as a strategic process to enhance the organization's long-term agility and increase their competitive stance (Agwu et al., 2018; Mahdi et al., 2015). Whatever the reason, downsizing within an organization must be conducted in a manner that is conducive to the health and future growth of the company to be considered effective (Heathfield, 2018). Since employees are important resources within the organization, the decision to downsize must be carefully analyzed to determine how the decision might impact the staff.

Downsizing is generally a broad term that can be used in various ways for different reasons. Downsizing is mostly defined as the purposeful elimination of headcount in an organization with the main purpose of increasing revenue, lowering costs, and enhancing efficiency (Gandolfi, 2013). Downsizing may also be categorized for other purposes, including but not limited to staff buyouts, job outsourcing, and employee layoffs. The difference between these will depend on the intended outcome. For this study, the definition of downsizing is employee reduction within an organization.

Downsizing causes a major change in the structure of an organization that typically impacts everyone in the company: the removed employees, the remaining employees (also called survivors), and managers of all levels (Hall, 2012). Survivors often experience the strains of being overworked, feelings of anxiety, distrust, and job insecurity resulting in emotional distress and even physical illness, also referred to as survivor syndrome (Fulce, 2018). Business leaders have the responsibility of identifying ways to improve employee morale that will positively increase the survivability of the organization.

Downsizing can stimulate various emotional responses from employees, including a reduction in loyalty and organizational commitment that may impact the future productivity and profitability of the organizations (Muhammed & Soumyaja, 2019). The success of downsizing is measured in part by the reaction of the survivors, who may experience a decrease in morale and other symptoms, including but not limited to, survivor sickness, anger, guilt, and inferiority (Fulce, 2018; Street & Lacey, 2018). According to Alozie (2020), an increase in morale can improve worker performance. Many organizational leaders do not fully understand this and therefore may inadequately address the impact of low morale after downsizing. (Street & Lacey, 2018). The aftermath of downsizing can include emotional complications for employees and generally yield unfavorable consequences for the organization (Gillikin, 2018; Schulz & Johann, 2018). Therefore, the strategy to downsize in an organization should primarily assess the new work environment and remaining employees to be a successful initiative.

Problem and Purpose

The strain of downsizing can have a negative effect on morale for employees that remain with the organization (Elder, 2017), causing a reduction in productivity which can in turn result in a negative effect on business performance (Hossain, 2018; Ray & Maheshwari, 2017). In fact, employees who experience lowered morale are associated with lowered productivity and can cost organizations approximately \$50,000 annually per employee (Theodotou, 2018). The general business problem is that remaining staff in organizations that downsize may experience lowered morale. The specific business problem is that some business leaders in organizations lack strategies to manage employee morale after downsizing.

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to successfully manage employee morale within their organization after downsizing. The target population included three leaders at a company in central Maryland who successfully used strategies to manage employee morale after downsizing resulting in increased productivity and profitability. Lynch (2018) suggested that the fear of becoming unemployed is detrimental to the structure and emotional state of the family. The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by identifying strategies business leaders can use to manage this fear and improve employee morale, thereby improving job sustainability, leading to happier families, employees, and communities.

Population and Sampling

In this qualitative single case study, the population was a nonprobabilistic purposive sample size of three business leaders in central Maryland who successfully used a strategy to improve employee morale after downsizing within the past 5 years. Qualitative researchers select their sample population of participants using nonprobability sampling methods (Guetterman, 2020). The different types of nonprobabilistic sampling include theoretical, purposive, convenience, criterion, snowball, and volunteer (Guetterman, 2020). I used purposive sampling to permit the selection of the participants based on their association with the study criteria (see Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I selected three leaders within an organization to ensure an ample amount of data is collected to answer the research question thoroughly. According to Yin (2018), it is acceptable to use a small population in a case study; I used Yin's assertion to confirm that the sample size of three leaders was appropriate. The sample size for this study was appropriate as it provides sufficient data to understand how business leaders use strategies to improve employee morale after downsizing. A nonprobabilistic purposive sampling is the best technique for a case study because the lived experiences of the participants provide thorough data for analysis (Clarke et al., 2021; Guetterman, 2020).

Nature of the Study

The three types of research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. For this study, I selected the qualitative method. Researchers use the qualitative method to explore and gain an in-depth understanding of the individual's motives and thought processes in real-world contexts (Hayashi et al., 2019; Leung, 2015). The qualitative research method was the most appropriate for my study as my intention was to study a phenomenon by asking participants open-ended questions.

Conversely, quantitative researchers use numerical data and experiments to test hypotheses and analyze data using statistics (Guetterman, 2020). Quantitative methodology was not appropriate for this study since I did not seek to test a theory or hypothesis. Moss (2019) stated that the mixed method is a combination of qualitative and quantitative research methods, using both number and narrative data in one study. It was not appropriate to use mixed method for this study because gathering quantitative data would not answer my research question.

For this qualitative study, I considered three types of research design: ethnography, phenomenology, and case study. Yin (2018) described ethnography design as a study of subjects and cultural characteristics of a group through interactions with participants and direct observations. An ethnographic design is the study of a culture or ethnic group (Nairn et al., 2020). The ethnography design was not appropriate for this study because I did not seek to study the culture of a group. Phenomenology is the approach used to understand and capture the lived experiences of a common phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenology was not appropriate for this study because I did not explore an individual's lived experiences, instead I explored strategies that business leaders use to manage employee morale after downsizing. I used a case study for my research to explore the individuals' personal experiences. A researcher can use multiple data sources such as company documents, interview responses, and personal experiences to gain an understanding of a phenomenon (Renz et al., 2018). The case study design was the most appropriate for my research to understand the impact of downsizing on employee morale, due to the collection of data from various sources within a single facility.

Research Question

What strategies do leaders use to manage employee morale in an organization after downsizing?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies did you use to improve employee morale in the organization after downsizing?
- 2. As a business leader in this organization, how would you describe your role in improving employee morale after downsizing occurred?
- 3. Based on your experience, what specific elements of the strategies contributed most to improving employee morale after downsizing?
- 4. What challenges did you face when implementing the strategies?
- 5. How did you overcome these challenges?

6. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies used to manage employee morale in the organization after downsizing?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this qualitative study was transformational leadership theory. The transformational leadership theory was originally derived from science and is comprised of history, education, religion, and technology (Göker & Bozkus, 2017). Originally developed by Burns (1978) and later enhanced by Bass (1985), the idea of transformational leadership theory was based on the ideology that leaders could identify the methods to motivate and inspire workers to improve performance and commitment to the organization.

According to Bass (1985), there are four underlying key constructs of transformational leadership: (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration (Ghasabeh, 2021). Also called *Bass' transformational leadership theory*, the fundamental concept of transformational leadership is to establish a relationship between leaders and followers by influencing and motivating employees to extend their abilities and reach for higher goals in the organization. Farahnak et al. (2019) denoted that some transformational leadership values could positively influence employees to exhibit positive behaviors and motivation, resulting in higher work ethics.

Transformational leaders also influence the employees to develop higher levels of morale and motivation (Ghasabeh, 2021; Hussein & Yesiltas, 2020). These employees then use the motivation to bring about change throughout the organization. Burns (1978)

determined that organizations with transformational leaders' experience decreased employee turnover and more satisfied employees (Zivkovic et al., 2020). By focusing on the needs and perceptions of the employees, transformational leaders encourage selfmotivation rather than reward good behaviors with incentives (Sale & Thomas, 2020; Younies & Al-Tawil, 2021). Therefore, the transformational leadership theory was appropriate to use as the conceptual framework for my study to explore strategies that leadership use to manage employee morale after downsizing.

Operational Definitions

Downsizing: Downsizing, a strategic decision made within the leadership ranks of an organization to reduce personnel, usually designed to diminish an organization's cost, and improve overall efficiency, productivity, and competitiveness (Casio, 2010).

Employee morale: Employee morale is an emotional state that affects work engagement, motivation, job implication, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment (Shuck, 2019).

Job burnout: Job burnout refers to a set of negative psychological experiences that wears out or takes a toll on the health of an employee because of prolonged exposure to the stress of providing services to people (Herschell et al., 2020).

Survivors: Survivors are employees that remain on the job after organizational downsizing or layoff occurs (Elder, 2017).

Survivor syndrome: The strains of overwork, organizational changes, and stress of job insecurity resulting in physical and emotional trauma, and loss of affective commitment resulting from a downsizing event (Fukui et al., 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are facts believed to be accurate but are not verifiable by the researcher (Blaikie, 2018). I made three assumptions in this study. The first assumption was that all participants in the study were at one time employed in a managerial capacity within the organization. The second assumption was that all participants in the study had substantial knowledge and experience with downsizing. The third assumption was that all participants responded to the interview questions honestly and accurately based on their lived experiences.

Limitations

Limitations are defined as potential weaknesses in a research study over which the researcher has no control (Strandholm et al., 2013). This study was limited since information was only collected from three business leaders of one organization, located in central Maryland, United States. Therefore, generalizability of the study could be an issue and require additional research to verify findings. Another limitation exists as some of the participants may have indulged in biased behaviors that limit their ability to be fair and impartial in their responses to the research questions.

Delimitations

Delimitations are factors that limit the scope and define the boundaries within a study (Karlsen, 2014). There are two delimitations in this study. The first delimitation is the geographical location for this study was only central Maryland. The second

delimitation is only interviewing three business leaders who, within the last 5 years, have successfully implemented strategies to improve employee morale after downsizing.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Strategic efforts to assess the emotional state of remaining employees may result in higher productivity and performance after downsizing (Kichuk et al., 2019; Sawaneh & Kamara, 2019). The research of Rajput et al. (2019) confirmed that succession strategizing is necessary to consider later generations of employees. Strategizing helps to prepare leaders for the future transition as well as control the impact the organizational change will have on employees (Kosterlitz & Lewis, 2019). Thus, the need to strategize is critical to the success of an organization after downsizing.

Employees of an organization expect their leaders to practice open communication regarding the organizational climate and the security of their jobs (Zhen, 2020). Cohee (2019) posited that company leaders must provide clear and concise information regarding the plans to downsize. Two-way communication regarding strategic plans that impact employee morale within an organization can contribute to the improvement of business practice by improving sustainability in the organization (Fulce, 2018). The study findings may contribute to the active practice of business by helping organizational leaders become more aware of the need to strategize when planning a downsizing event.

Implications for Social Change

Strategic efforts to assess the emotional implications for social employees that are satisfied with their jobs have higher morale and productivity (Yusuf & Yee, 2020). When downsizing affects the employees adversely, organizations risk lowered employee morale, performance, and productivity, thereby reducing the contributions to society (Norris & Norris, 2019; Saengchai et al., 2019). The focus of an organization is to remain productive, so employees can maintain job security and stability, thereby investing in the well-being of the employees and their communities (Donohue & Tham, 2019). This study may impact social change by helping business leaders to determine which strategies protect their employees and the company from the negative impact of downsizing.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to successfully manage employee morale within their organization after downsizing. The target population included three leaders at a company in central Maryland who successfully used strategies to manage employee morale after downsizing, resulting in increased productivity and profitability. The results of this study may affect social change by identifying strategies leaders can use to manage employee morale, thereby contributing to the sustainability of the organization, and thus creating happier families and communities.

The review of the professional and academic literature contains the literature review opening narrative and the application to the applied business problem sections. The literature review opening narrative also includes a discussion of the various sources retrieved about the research study, a brief explanation of the organization of the review, the strategy used to search the literature, and a list of the sources retrieved. Several peer-reviewed articles supported the assertions in the study, and at least 85% of those sources were published from 2018 to 2022 (see Table 1).

In conducting the literature review, I used the following databases to search for relevant research studies: ABI/INFORM Complete, Business Source Complete, EBSCO, ProQuest Central, and SAGE Premier. The organization of the review contains four significant topic categories: (a) the literature search strategy, (b) application to the applied business problem, (c) critical analysis and synthesis of Burns' transformational leadership theory, and (d) the analysis of supporting and contrasting theories.

I searched the literature using the following terms: *downsizing, downsizing and impact on corporations, downsizing and organizational culture, employee morale, employee motivation, employee stress, ethical leadership, layoffs, layoffs and downsizing, negative outcomes and corporations, strategies and downsizing, survivor syndrome and transformational leadership, workplace climate,* and *workplace stress.*

Table 1

Literature review content	Total no. of resources	No. of resources 5 years or newer (2018-2022)	% of peer-reviewed resources 5 years or newer (2018-2022)
Peer-reviewed journal articles	108	99	91
Seminal books	14	14	100
Total sources in literature review	122	113	92

Literature Review Resources

Transformational Leadership

Leaders play an important role in influencing the employees in an organization. Leadership is defined as the action of encouraging followers to work toward achieving a common goal (Ivanoska, 2019). Leaders are empowered and expected to instill drive and commitment within the staff and identify gaps within the organizational structure (Krause, 2020). The transformational leadership style is one of the most critical factors when evaluating an employee's relationship with leaders (Alloubani et al., 2019; Alozie, 2020) and is one of the most captivating leadership styles that exist today (Jones et al., 2019). In this study, I used the transformational leadership theory as a conceptual framework to explore strategies leaders use to manage morale in an organization after downsizing. I also explored other leadership theories to determine the best framework to use for this case study.

Leaders often use another leadership style in managing employees. Transactional leadership, also referred to as managerial leadership, encourages compliance of the employees through both rewards and punishments, and is focused on the role of supervision, organization, and group performance (Li et al., 2019; Younies & Al-Tawil, 2021). Contrary to transformational leadership, transactional leaders are only interested in maintaining the status quo, not looking to make changes to the future (Li et al., 2019).

Transactional leaders thoroughly scrutinize the work of the employees to identify errors and inconsistencies and then issue a reprimand accordingly (Ivanoska, 2019). An example of transactional leadership is the political exchange of promises of more job opportunities for more votes from supporters. Similarly, transactional leaders use the style to reward staff for reaching and exceeding their goals (Boamah et al., 2018). This leadership style is best when guidelines or parameters are required to produce specific outcomes.

Researchers have long sought to understand the various leadership theories and the impact on organizations. The transformational approach to leadership has been the subject of extensive study and discussion since the early 1980s (Carleton et al., 2018). The research of Farahnak et al. (2019) furthered the influence that inspires followers to reach for their highest potential while transformational leaders motivate followers to go above and beyond the norm. Conversely, the transformational leadership theory is a highly sought-after resource used in businesses to inspire behavioral changes within an organization. Leaders find the transformational leadership theory valuable when seeking to impact an organization's cultural behaviors and practices (Ennis et al., 2018). Leaders who build upon cultural advances may help to build the organization.

Several researchers expressed different concepts on transformational leadership. According to Shanafelt and Noseworthy (2017), employees appreciate transformational leaders because they provide an optimistic view of the future and value their employees' growth and development. Burns (1978) developed transformational leadership during his attempt to connect the roles of leaders and followers and believed that leadership is distinct from power because it cannot exist without the demands of the people it serves. Transformational leadership was not considered credible until Burns theorized it and reintroduced it to leaders as a business strategy to reduce turnover and increase employee retention. Further developing the work of Burns, Bass (1985) developed Bass' transformational leadership theory and believed that the behavior of the leaders also contributed to how the employees perceived the different leadership styles. In addition, Bass decreed that transformational leadership contributes to a higher level of emotional attachment and personal commitment amongst followers to achieve organizational objectives. Transformational leadership is designed to transform or inspire people to perform at their best by offering a positive environment, thereby encouraging lowperforming individuals and groups to work more efficiently (Krisnanda & Surya, 2019). Organizational leaders' decision on which leadership style to use is critical to maintain a satisfied workforce.

The ability to persuade employees is a critical aspect of positive leadership. Transformational leaders tend to positively influence the opinion of employees (Aloysius, 2018) as well as encourage the mutual exchange of high-valued trust and perceptions, thereby inspiring and motivating both leaders and employees (Shapira, 2019). Members of the leadership team that interact with staff regularly, encourage communication flows from both sides and keep the employees abreast of and involved in day-to-day operations of the organization (Shapira, 2019). Leaders can enhance job satisfaction through this form of employee engagement (Al-Ali et al., 2019; Nichols, 2018; Ramli, 2019). Employers should realize that staff involvement in leadership decisions is favorable to the employees' development. Transformational leaders also may inspire positive change among employees for the betterment of the organization by encouraging employees to embrace their individual growth potential (Riggio, 2020). The realization may help employees to develop their strengths and talents resulting in a stronger, more productive work environment (Balhara & Bansal, 2019)..

Burns (1978) noted the four main attributes of the transformational leadership theory: (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration (Carleton et al., 2018). The first attribute, idealized influence, describes the leaders' charisma and strong moral and ethical standards, which influence the followers to trust, aspire to and emulate their practices. The second attribute, inspirational motivation, describes leaders that convey high expectations to followers, motivating them to join the organization's shared vision (Burns, 1978). Ali et al. (2019) discussed that transformational leaders motivate employees to exchange knowledge and ideas, encourage open communication, and stimulate the introduction of adaptive culture to increase motivation and inspiration in the organization. Leaders use symbols and emotional appeals to motivate group members to go beyond their selfinterest and can be a boost to the company culture and morale (Osman, 2020). A sales manager who stimulates the sales team to excel by positive words and pep talks about their part in the company's future success is an example of this element. The third attribute is intellectual stimulation. Leaders using this style encourage their followers to develop new ideas and explore new solutions with scrutiny, while analyzing the ideas of the leader as well (Burns, 1978). An example of inspirational motivation would be a hotel manager encouraging staff to develop a potential solution to an issue causing delays to customer service. The fourth attribute, individualized consideration, represents

compassionate leaders who are attentive to the follower, providing unique advice to each follower as needed (Sahu et al., 2018).

Transactional Leadership

Bass (1985) also supported another leadership style. Contrary to transformational leaders, the main attributes of transactional leadership are contingent reward and active management by exception (Bass, 1985). The latter style suggests a mutual agreement between leader and follower where performance is offset by predetermined rewards (Moss, 2019). An example of this leadership style is being granted time off after the completion of a phase in a work cycle. The contingent reward is most effective in a relationship that is highly valued by both parties. The final factor in transactional leadership, management by exception, involves a critique process using negative reinforcement in either an active or passive form (Shanafeld & Noseworthy, 2017). Leaders who use the active form of management by exception employ observation tactics followed by abrupt and immediate restorative action to address mistakes. An example of active management is a supermarket leader who immediately reprimands a cashier who failed to produce a receipt at the time of a sale. The manager attempts to provide corrective criticism however, the cashier may likely suffer embarrassment. A passive management by exception leader only provides input after a problem surfaces, without prior feedback allowing for corrective action (Suphattanakul, 2017). This leader may bypass an employee for promotion at year-end, without the benefit of having a midyear performance review. Leaders must consider the best form of leadership to prevent negative impact on employees.

There are other distinctions between these two leadership styles. Transactional leadership is responsive while transformational leadership tends to be more proactive. Transactional style does not strive for change and encourages employees to reach company goals by providing rewards. Conversely, in transformational leadership managers encourage employees to pursue higher limits and reach goals by influencing moral values and developing new ideas. Transactional leaders encourage selfgratification while transformational leaders urge employees to put the best interests of the team first. These two leadership styles offer vastly different cultures in the workplace environment.

Laissez-Faire Leadership

In contrast to transformational and transactional, laissez-faire leadership is a carefree leadership style which does not represent the position of management well. According to Wong and Giessner (2018), laissez-faire leadership is categorized as zero leadership. This leader abdicates responsibility, delays decisions, gives no feedback, and makes little effort to help followers satisfy their needs (Wong & Giessner, 2018). In fact, laissez-faire exists far on the end of the spectrum and represents the absence of any management style at all. The laissez-faire leader makes no attempt to exercise management or control, with limited interest in the behaviors of the followers.

The research of Breevaart and Zacher (2019) revealed that employees can benefit the most from laissez-faire leadership by having the ability to express themselves before attempting difficult tasks, without the interference of a leader. Laissez-faire leadership promotes innovation and enhances decision-making, while providing the freedom to make immediate decisions (Wong & Giessner, 2018). Laissez-faire leaders also tend to be dormant in decision making, allowing the employees the freedom to make their own choices (Wong & Giessner, 2018). There is typically no vested interest in maintaining the leadership role or enforcing action, and often the laissez-faire leader is filling a temporary gap (Burns, 1978). An example of a laissez-faire leader is a substitute teacher. The teacher will have limited interest in partaking in major changes or investments in the classroom since the leadership is temporary and non-binding. The students would be allowed to make decisions on any activity, and the substitute teacher is typically not highly regarded.

Notably, this laissez-faire style would be challenging in a classroom where the students exhibit little self-guidance and no discipline. The result would be an unruly, disruptive classroom with chaos (Breevaart & Zacher, 2019). The laissez-faire leader in this example would work best with students that have high reliability and self-control. Recent research suggests that laissez-faire leadership may not only involve the absence of control, but rather a conscious strategic decision to reduce dependency and increase self-competence by requiring the followers to act in a leadership role (Burns,1978; Evans, 2020). Laissez-faire leaders have no interest in establishing a deep connection with their employees.

Other leadership styles share similar sentiments. McGregor's (1957) Theory X and the transactional leadership style both rule by instilling fear and motivation with reward. Shafagatova and Van Looy (2020) contended that rewards are critical strategies that encourage productivity and influence behavior. Theory Y is like transformational leadership because these leaders focus on their employees and encourage them through self-motivation, respect, and trust (Evans, 2020). These leaders both encourage success by providing resources and tools to achieve higher goals. According to Burns (1978), transactional leadership techniques encourage followers to engage in shallow behavior that usually involves the exchange of some level of gratification. The leadership style used within an organization will identify with each leaders' personal beliefs. The best leadership style can be determined by the goals and desired behaviors relevant to each individual scenario (Agwu et al., 2018). Each style has advantages and disadvantages; however, research shows that the most effective leadership style is a flexible blend of transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership styles (Kanat-Maymon et al., 2020). Ultimately, each leadership style contributes to effective leadership in a unique style that can be used to obtain expected results.

Organizational Downsizing

Organizations downsize for various reasons. Some organizational leaders associate downsizing with a reduction in overhead expenses and operating costs by eliminating employee salaries and benefits to attain a more competitive stance in the industry (Cascio, 2010; Siddiqa, 2017). Employee salaries are a form of recurring expenses, that are controlled by maintaining the proper number of employees (Hossfield, 2013). Businesses in the manufacturing industry may even downsize due to a fluctuating market beyond the control of the organization. Organizations tend to target lowperforming areas first, typically those producing lower amounts of revenue. However, firms must carefully make decisions as firms that conduct downsizing improperly can create a substantial adverse impact on the success of the firm.

Manalo et al. (2020) contended that mismanaged downsizing can revert the organization to its predownsizing state or worse, prompting the management team to consider downsizing again in the future. Notably, Gandolfi (2013) denoted that 65% of firms that downsized each year repeated the organizational change the following year. Even when effectively managed, the results of downsizing can negatively impact the organization. Schmitt et al. (2012) contended that there is no evidence that proves downsizing leads to an improved financial status. Also, losing trained staff during a downsizing event could contribute to the loss of years of knowledge, training, and experience, while inadvertently adding little to no value to the financial position of the organization (Clair et al., 2016; Ray & Maheshwari, 2017). Management needs to consider all options and outcomes before deciding to downsize.

The use of downsizing is a widespread occurrence. Throughout the United States, many companies are increasingly turning to downsizing to relieve financial issues and reduce costs (Gandolfi, 2013; Moreno et al., 2020). In October 2021, more than 1.3 million workers were in layoff status (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2021). Organizations are planning to restore the company to the normal prelayoff state and are listing cost reduction as one of the main reasons for downsizing (Cohee, 2019). Downsizing is not a guaranteed solution to organizational problems.

Downsizing can be defined as a staff reduction or the process of terminating employees in hopes of creating a better financial position for the organization. Although leaders believe that a reduction in staff will result in lower operational costs and therefore increase profits, this is not necessarily true (Low et al., 2019; Siddiqa, 2017). Luan et al. (2013) conducted a study in Taiwan to determine the relationship between downsizing strategies, economic position, and firm performance. The study consisted of data from 436 Taiwanese companies that were used to compare how three different downsizing strategies impacted financial position and firm performance: (a) layoffs, (b) pay cuts, and (c) organizational slack reductions. Luan et al. found after conducting their study related to downsizing that a decrease in personnel did not necessarily result in lower costs and increased profits. Instead, they discovered that organizational downsizing with layoffs might leave the firm inappropriately staffed, compromising the performance of the firm. Cohee (2019) explained that there is no guarantee in the connection between reduced staff and increased profits as downsizing proves to serve as only a temporary solution. The results of a diminished staff may be different than the intended purpose.

There are additional consequences of downsizing. According to Lakshman et al. (2019), downsizing may affect the employees physically and emotionally as well. In a study of psychological health and well-being of workers, Anaf et al. (2013) explored the consequences of job loss by examining the relationship between their perceptions of personal power and job loss. Using semistructured interviews, Anaf et al. (2013) sampled 33 out of 1,000 workers who lost their jobs during a downsizing event. During their research, Anaf et al. and Lakshman et al. (2019) both found that common trends of psychological distress associated with job loss included stress, loss of self-esteem and sense of personal control, shame, and loss of status, experiencing a grieving process, and

financial strain. The researchers also identified the diverse ways workers employed their agency noting that downsizing victims' sense of value suffered when dealing with job loss consequences. The study findings suggest the need for policies to help workers cope with the structural constraints of job loss that affect human resources.

Downsizing can also lead to critical consequences for displaced employees, surviving employees, and leaders within the organization. Of these, surviving employees generally suffer the most from the strains of being overworked due to additional workload and anxiety from lack of job insecurity. Preventing strain on the surviving employees is critical to restoring productivity to the original state (Cohee, 2019). After downsizing, the success of the event is strengthened in part by the surviving employees' intention to remain with the organization (Lakshman et al., 2019). There is no assurance that survivors will want to stay after friends and cohorts have been terminated. Contrary to prior research, the terminated employees and the survivors had similar postdownsizing layoff perceptions of the organizations (Fulce, 2018). The assumption that remaining employees are more likely to be less impacted by downsizing is not supported by the research.

Job involvement and organizational commitment did not recover in the same manner as approval of leadership and job security. Trust issues between employees and immediate supervisors tend to impact work attitudes and behaviors (Rickwood, 2015). Even when employees maintain positive attitudes toward management and while feelings of job security seem to improve during postdownsizing, employees' feelings about their jobs and obligation to the firm do not (Lakshman, 2019). This evidence may be proof that employees' level of involvement and commitment can cause them to separate and continue to disengage from their jobs and their company based on participation and commitment (Rickwood, 2015). The emotional state, or morale, of surviving employees is critical to the success of the organization after downsizing.

Age may also be a factor in how downsizing is accepted. Abelha et al. (2018) found that the data indicates that young survivors appear to be less vocationally adaptable, more vulnerable to downsizing, and more prone to view downsizing as unfair, perhaps due to unrealistic career trajectory expectations. In contrast, older employees, probably due to increased job and layoff experience or the perception that downsizing was handled more equitably via greater loyalty to the organization, appear to be more resilient in these respects (Ramli, 2019). The findings are relevant to give leaders an advantage to discern possible results in the planning stages of downsizing.

Employee retirement is an alternative to downsizing in an organization; however, it can have a similar impact on the corporation. Ramli (2019) and Rauvola et al. (2019) agreed that employers must monitor the impending impact of their retirement-age workforce and prepare a strategy to replace lost productivity and expertise. Losing older employees to retirement drains knowledge and expertise within an organization and thereby threatens the organization's stance in a competitive business environment (Migliaccio, 2018). In response, some employers are looking for new ways to retain older workers and protect the invaluable knowledge they possess. Employers are offering lucrative compensation packages, opportunities for career growth, developmental training, and other knowledge-sharing or knowledge transfer initiatives Ramli, 2019).

These strategies help to increase the competitive advantage for the elder staff while protecting the organization from losing critical information.

Eligible employees close to retirement age often have the option to leave voluntarily or retire before a downsizing event occurs. Rauvola et al. (2020) conducted two studies to determine how the relationship with the work environment impacts the employees' decision to retire. Rauvola et al. conducted studies to examine the ageconditional effects of person-environment (PE) fit types based on the life-span perspective, the socioemotional selectivity theory. The results were expected to reveal the importance of factors that determine the level of satisfaction in employees based on their retirement potential. The study included person-job (PJ), person-group (PG) and personorganization (PO) fit types using hypothetical scenarios and cues. The results of the studies were that younger participants would relate to the PJ fit as the most compelling to establish satisfaction in the workplace, while the relatively older participants would find the PO fit to be the most significant. These researchers also discussed additional opportunities to explore future theories and potential research on the findings. Employees may also consider proactive alternatives to avoid the impact of downsizing.

Closure, a different type of downsizing, has a unique impact on employees and the organization. In a study directed to illustrate the impact of closure, Arman (2014) conducted a case study of the closure of a Swedish branch of an international pharmaceutical corporation. Dissimilar to layoff, closure is a type of downsizing that are compared to death metaphors, using the three primary metaphors (i.e., murder, sacrificial killing, and palliative death) by examining the informants' accounts of the roles they played in the closure (Arman, 2014). Employees have mainly described managers' role deliberate murder, for which the managers were responsible. On the other hand, managers and others have described the decision as strategic and inevitable sacrificial killing. Employees generally described the beginning of the closure process as irresponsible but later used a palliative death metaphor (Arman, 2014). Using the metaphor analysis allowed researchers to understand the closure regarding its context, process, and how different people portrayed agency in themselves and others.

The decision to downsize affects all the members of the organization. The terminated employees, the surviving staff, the first line of supervisory personnel, and the leadership management team involved in making the decisions all experience various levels of impact (Susskind et al., 2018). The survivors are often left to revitalize an organization with a limited workforce and changed social structure and immediately develop feelings of insecurity and distrust, often exploring the idea of leaving and finding work elsewhere (Hart et al., 2016). These survivors may feel mistreated by offensive first-line supervisors, and react by decreasing productivity (Hart et al., 2016). Consequently, many of the remaining staff feel unsure of job security and consider finding other employment opportunities.

In a quantitative study using descriptive statistics, Neves (2014) queried 20 employees at 12 medium and large-sized companies in Portugal. Using a displaced aggression framework, Neves found that employees at companies that had downsized tend to perform less than employees at companies that had not downsized. A possible explanation for that is that employees react to perceived mistreatment from superiors by mentally diminishing the obligation to perform tasks, especially those extra assignments that are not within their responsibility. These employees may exhibit other negative behaviors such as increased absence, higher turnover, and lowered productivity, also referred to as occupational stress, when feelings of vulnerability are present (Chen & Mykletun, 2015; Neves, 2014). Most employees need fair and pleasant conditions to perform well.

Employees remaining in downsized organizations experience higher levels of anxiety resulting in greater leave and absence occurrences. Occupational stress, anxiety and depression are associated with a high employee absentee rate in companies that undergo layoffs worldwide (Parveen & Adeinat, 2019). Occupational stress is a condition that affects an employee's mental, psychological, emotional, spiritual, and physical health (Sandhya & Sulphey, 2021; Zhen 2020). Fukui and Salyers (2020) announced a connection between the stress and the employees' probability of completing tasks without error, obtaining work-related injuries, and sickness in the workplace. Awareness about occupational stress is more prevalent today yet it still occurs in many organizations (Havermans et al., 2018). Consequently, managers need to invest in therapy or counseling sessions to address anxiety and stress to protect the employees.

Organizational leaders should expect a decrease in productivity. Employees become unable to keep the pace at which leaders measure productivity without enduring stress and reluctance (Vaclavik et al., 2018). The front-line supervisors and the corporation leaders then realize the risk of potentially losing company profit, and rapport with remaining personnel (Peng et al., 2021). The effects of doing more work with fewer people as a concern that at some point the effect of stretching the capabilities and work ethics of these employees will have a negative effect ranging from lowered productivity to burnout (Vaclavik et al. 2018; Neves, 2014). Employees that experience burnout feel elevated levels of depersonalization and stress, while simultaneously feeling low levels of accomplishment, trust, morale, and job satisfaction (Parveen & Adeinat, 2019; Ramli, 2019). Organizational leaders must include plans to manage employee stress in their plans to downsize.

Ultimately, the stress factor is manageable and should be controlled since it relates to sickness, which causes absences and lowered productivity (Fukui et al., 2020). Researchers Modrek and Cullen (2013) proclaimed an association with downsizing and four chronic health conditions, which include hypertension, diabetes, asthma or COPD, and depression. Pfeffer (2011) suggested that employees working in a company that has experienced layoffs may develop migraines and gastrointestinal issues. According to Vaclavik et al. (2018), preventing burnout and stress in employees is a method of increasing productivity. Vaclavik et al. also denoted that fear of being disciplined for unexcused absences causes ill employees to come to work, putting other employees at risk. As leaders become aware of these issues and show compromise, the workers will begin to shift their opinions and see their leaders as considerate and trustworthy (Lakshman et al. (2019). Irrespective of the profit margins, business leaders must make employees' health and well-being a priority.

The impact downsizing has on employees may depend on the perception of the workers. Susskind et al. (2018) studied over 700 staff members of a company that had

recently downsized and asserted that the downsizing significantly impacted both the survivors and the former employees, with each experiencing depression, although the impact was different for each. While they both suffered depression-like symptoms, their perception either increased or lowered the level of depression. The main observation involved optimistic employees who viewed this setback as an opportunity, experienced less-depressing feelings. Schulz and Johann (2018) explored if and how psycho-social resources that fostered employability contribute to the mental health of workers during a downsizing. Schulz and Johann found that laid-off employees with higher personal employability were less likely to have mental health deterioration. Personal employability has three dimensions: self-efficacy, proactivity, and social capital (Schulz & Johann, 2018). Downsized workers during a layoff with greater personal employability had a greater sense of having job alternatives and will more than likely use outplacement programs. The researchers determined that these workers have greater tranquility during transitions; however, these variables did not have a positive impact on mental health. Perceived layoff justice had a direct positive impact on psychological health; however, it did not correlate with employability. Researchers found that psychological processes can affect the decision to utilize outplacement programs and offered suggestions for developing employability profiling.

Earlier studies reported a direct connection between work-related stress and employee burnout in Taiwan. Researchers studied the impact of the 2008 financial crisis on psychological work stress among 58 financial workers, including analysts and traders, and 180 working lawyers from four securities firms and 26 law firms in Taipei, Taiwan (Tsai & Chan, 2010). The authors used surveys to measure work stress and personal and work-related burnout, proving that financial workers reported much higher stress from fear of layoffs, increased experiences of undesirable changes and more fear of making mistakes during work. Conversely, lawyers reported significantly higher scores of rewards, fewer psychological demands, and less exhaustion. In addition to high psychological demand and a high effort-reward ratio, high effort, over-commitment, and stress of layoffs also contributed to personal and work-related burnout after the financial crisis (Tsai & Chan, 2010). After the financial crisis, lawyers' burnout decreased with the increase in reward, and their work-related burnout decreased with the decrease in psychological demand.

Some past researchers claim to have identified discrimination within the practice of downsizing. Schulz and Johann (2018) explored how the formalization and legalization of downsizing affect inequalities. According to Parks-Yancy (2011), data from a national sample of 327 downsized establishments between 1971 and 2002 had variables in the study that represent a proportion of (a) White men, (b) White women, (c) Black men and women. According to bureaucracy model and management practitioners, formalization constrains decision-makers' bias, but neo-structural and feminist theories of inequality argue that formalization can itself be gendered and racially biased. On the other hand, civil rights antidiscrimination accountability model notes that organizational and institutional processes motivate executives to minimize inequality. Schulz and Johann concluded that although legal experts manage formal rules, antidiscrimination often means the institutionalization of unequal rather than equal opportunity. Antidiscrimination laws have been enacted to prevent and control discrimination in the workplace.

Workplace Survivor Syndrome

Consideration is often given to the employees that have been removed from the organization. However, the focus of downsizing events shifts from the removed employees to the employees who remained with the organization after downsizing, sometimes referred to as "survivors" (Neves, 2014). Employers that ignore the negative emotions of survivors, such as anger, frustration, betrayal, and demoralization, can risk creating a group of disconnected, isolated employees. Failure to analyze the impact that downsizing can have on the survivors may ultimately have a detrimental effect on the downsized organization (Travaglione & Cross, 2006). These groups both endure the same levels of emotional distress and negativity as the victims of downsizing (Vaclavik et al., 2018).

Organizations typically focus on the needs of the laid-off victims arranging for post-transition support, severance packages, counseling, and other services (Zivkovic et al., 2020). Conversely, downsizing survivors may receive little or no support as they seek to find balance and stability in the new organization (Lee, 2019). Employers often overlook survivors and consider them fortunate to remain employed. Subsequently, when employers ignore the survivors as they undergo an array of emotions, the need for therapeutic counseling may evolve, which can help to introduce mental health policies and other services to the survivors as well. The term survivor syndrome was used to describe the adversity that a surviving employee had to endure (Velasco & Sansone,

2019). Some of the symptoms also include low morale, lack of dedication to the organization, feelings of uncertainty and helplessness, as well as physical, psychological, and social strains (Sandhya & Sulphey, 2021). Employees who survived a downsizing event are more likely to have a lowered level of persistence and emotional commitment and other symptoms (Florah et al., 2013). The strains of overwork, organizational changes, job uncertainty, and the involuntary dismissal of peers, have been contributors to physical disease, emotional trauma and loss of interest and commitment in survivors (Lynch & Mors, 2018). Some managers in organizations expect the survivors to show gratitude for continued employment. Reciprocally, the surviving employees are expected to be more appreciative and productive out of fear of becoming a victim in a subsequent downsizing (Mcdowell et al., 2019). These fears can lead to rebellious thoughts and behaviors potentially resulting in strikes, work stoppage, increased absences, and voluntary resignations (Robbins et al., 2019). Managing downsizing can have an enormous impact on employee morale and subsequent business performance and should be managed effectively.

Some employees may feel betrayed by the way the plans to downsize were communicated. According to Van Dick et al. (2016), disloyalty is considered one of the root causes of survivor syndrome. (Lakshman et al., 2019) explained that most survivors were skeptical of their stability and tenure in the organization and therefore frequently endured lowered morale and considered uprooting from their current positions to seek other employment. Many survivors complained that the organizational leaders conveyed information about the imminent changes to the victims poorly. The complaints varied from little to no advanced notice or sufficient time to intercept job loss, no privacy consideration with the public announcement, and no immediate counseling services available to help the employees cope with the devastating news (Sandhyha & Sulphey, 2020). Employers must create strategies to inflict the least amount of stress on their employees as possible.

Survivors had different perceptions about their jobs and the organization after the downsizing event occurred. A psychological contract (PC) is the agreement between the employers and employees in which the employees define their belief of the terms and responsibilities of each party (Dust et al., 2018; Low et al., 2016). The PC is pertinent to organizational success especially during staffing changes, or downsizing (Low et al., 2019). The findings of Uen et al. (2016) align with Sandhya and Sulphey (2020) and De Ruiter et al. (2017) and denoted that the psychological contract breach (PCB) often occurs when employees feel betrayed by employers' broken promise of continuity of employment, and therefore develop negative attitudes and behaviors.

In a comparable study, Parks-Yancy (2011) explored survivors and their perceptions of how downsizing influenced their access to social capital resources and its effect on their careers. Parks-Yancy asserted that downsizing might negatively affect the composition of the survivors' social ties at work and their access to career-related social capital resources. While survivors feel downsizing may alter their career paths, many opportunities for new careers, decreased availability in sought-after jobs as well as the loss of acquaintances in the social network that may have provided access to those jobs, also had job-altering effects (Paille & Raineri, 2016). The conclusion that the survivors did not have immediate access to additional sources of social capital resources was evident.

Equally, Elder (2017) noted that while out-placed employees receive support and options of outside employment, employers expect survivors to maintain productivity levels despite increased anxiety. Organizational leaders must be cautious not to intensify burnout for the downsizing survivors. Reinardy (2013) conducted a study of layoff survivors in the newspaper industry and claims that journalists with depleted trust, morale, and job satisfaction have experienced significant degrees of burnout, and intended to leave (Abelha et al., 2018). Also, journalists with low perceptions of job quality show signs of burnout. Reinardy used Hobfoll's (1989) theories as an analytic model and notes that workers will create and utilize resources created to alleviate stress in stressful situations, which may lead to burnout and decreased job performance. Despite suffering psychological damage, some loyal employees will remain with the organization after downsizing. Researchers have argued that some employees develop mental health issues after changes in job structure, such as downsizing (Nathan & Neve, 2009). Survivor syndrome is grouped into four categories of emotional health: (a) fear, insecurity, and uncertainty; (b) frustration, resentment, and anger; (c) sadness, depression, and guilt; and (d) unfairness, betrayal, and distrust (Nathan & Neve, 2009). Contrary to the view that layoffs can cut costs, Hwang & Yi, (2021) concluded that such measures may generate an additional cost minimally to supply counseling and psychological services for affected employees. Although some survivors eventually seek other employment, many of the survivors honor a commitment to remain with the

company based on their loyalty and sense of devotion with the employer (Kahya & Sahin, 2018). Some employees' commitment outweighs the negative impacts of downsizing.

Stressful events in the workplace can impact employees' health and well-being. Downsizing is associated with negative effects on the survivors of downsizing (Modrek & Cullen, 2013; Modrek et al., 2015). As surveyed employees respond to stress-related questions, researchers found that of the target population of 30 manufacturing plants, seven were the victims of downsizing. The results confirmed that survivors in severely downsized plants experienced higher levels of stress than those in moderately low downsized plants. Modrek and Cullen (2013) indicated that work stress can be related to potential future health issues in the employees, which serves the purpose of measuring the satisfaction of survivors after a downsizing event. The researchers showed that satisfaction or dissatisfaction may be linked to emotional and physical trauma such as stress, which has a direct impact on their future performance, hence the future success of the company (McDowell et al., 2019; Widyawati, 2020). Stress can affect physical and emotional health and should be monitored closely or managed whenever possible.

Employee Morale

Perhaps the most important obstruction to achieving desired results in downsizing is the surviving employees' lowered morale. Researchers have identified the correlation between downsizing and morale and other work-related stress issues in the remaining staff. Gladisa and Susanty (2018) revealed that the impact on employees may not only result in lowered morale, but loss of loyalty, commitment, and feelings of job security as well. Employees that feel appreciated tend to have higher performance levels and morale. Studies have shown that employees' reactions to downsizing are being scrutinized with greater concern due to the impact on employee morale and organizational success. Abid et al. (2019) and Peng et al. (2021) both contended that managers have a greater opportunity to interpose any negative impact by acknowledging the concerns of the staff. Cohee (2019) denoted that one of the ways of coping with a decline in employee morale and productivity is to acknowledge and address the concerns by using open communicating with the staff (Ocasio et al., 2015; Okurame & Osuzoka, 2014). As Singh et al. (2019) emphasized, effective communication is crucial for maintaining a healthy work environment. Therefore, employees feel entitled to be kept abreast of events that occur in the organization that will affect their livelihoods.

Leaders and managers must thrive in a respectful interpersonal, group, organizational, and intercultural environment. The importance of employee satisfaction and trust in organizations cannot be overstated, especially during climate changes within organizations (Abid et al., 2019; Gupta & Singla, 2016). According to Gupta and Singla (2016), three factors within an organization influence each other: organizational change, job satisfaction, and organizational trust. Organizational change requires employees and leadership to interact and respect one another (Gupta & Singla, 2016). Researchers Zhang and Liu (2018) aligned with Amarneh and Muthuveloo (2020) and attested that organization culture affects employee retention and job satisfaction. Downsizing normally results in some employees losing their jobs, which can be extremely stressful for both employees and leaders. When employees are dissatisfied with their jobs, they may exhibit rebellious behavior patterns, such as strikes, frequent absences, and resignations (Cohee, 2019). Employers can help to reduce this behavior by managing job satisfaction.

Lowered employee commitment can have a detrimental impact on employees and the organization. Tiesman et al. (2015) added that some behaviors resulting from lowered employee morale and stress can result in suicides and cost the U. S. economy approximately \$45 billion annually in lost productivity, training, and medical expenses. Stress is also the primary cause of employee absence, turnover, low productivity, depression, and burnout (Hom et al., 2019). Duan and Ho (2018) pointed out that some positive actions can counteract these stressors and help to strengthen trust between management and employees. Strategic management benefits may be used, such as clarity and openness in company goals and expectations, work-life flexibility, and competitive salary and benefits (Duan & Ho, 2018). Other researchers revealed that sharing strategic plans with the staff creates awareness and encourages feelings of usefulness and commitment (Bryson et al., 2017). This approach also influences changes to the culture throughout the organization as more members adapt to the change.

Stress Factors

There exist various types of stress. The focus of Selye's (1974) research was physiological stress - the adaptations or responses a person chooses to make in response to physical demands that are made on the body. Although the researcher originally posited that the body protects itself from various stressors, he later defined stress as the result of demands made on the body that require the body to readjust. Lazarus (2006) aligned his work, based on the transactional model, with the findings of Selye (1974) and classified the reaction to stress as either eustress (positive) or distress (negative). Researchers Vaclavik et al. (2018) found that individuals experience either distress or eustress because of responding to stress.

Psychological stress can have a detrimental impact on the employees in a downsized organization. The findings of Lazarus (2006) divided psychological stress into three parts—harm/loss, threat, and challenge—and explained that each part required a different assessment. In addition, Lazarus (2006) and Vaclavik et al. (2018) found that stress consists of a variety of emotional responses, including anger, shame, guilt, and fear, which are estimated and responded to by individuals differently. When management decides to downsize for organizational change, it can lead to significant workplace stress (Vaclavik et al., 2018). Downsized employees may suffer negative psychological effects due to a strain on their cognitive, affective, and physical resources (Lakshman, 2019).

The survivors face the trauma of an uncertain future and the potential requirement to work harder, unsure if support will be provided in the new environment. Unfortunately, the survivors may experience additional stress as they assess the impact on the lost employees and the extent of the effect. Employees will need to learn to cope with and manage stress to maintain a balanced work-life (Mercurio, 2015). Employee health is important; therefore, organizations should use preventive measures to eliminate or manage stress in employees that remain after downsizing.

Talent Retention

Talent retention is a method of recruiting and retaining exemplary personnel with the company for a duration of time. While it may contradict the main idea of downsizing, managers must take necessary steps to retain talent to maintain a competitive position in the industry (Pearlman & Shaffer, 2013). Leaders may encounter issues with stability while cooperating with a downsizing yet managing the retention of skilled and trained employees is an important strategy (Ferris, 2013). Bryson et al. (2017) synced with Donahue and Tham (2019) and implied that it is critical for strategic leaders to include succession planning and strategic insight in the organization's strategic downsizing plan. Utilizing a strategic process may help to guide downsizing outcomes closer to projected results.

Retention strategies offer alternatives to downsizing. Some leaders experience higher than usual turnover or other economic changes which could have an impact on the ability to retain talent (Traeger & Alfes, 2019). The stabilization and retention of personnel during downsizing is one of a senior manager's responsibilities (Zivkovic et al., 2020). Poorly planned employment retention strategies can impact motivation and trust for the employees, hence influence job abandonment and turnover (Ahsan, 2018; Nienaber & Martins, 2020). There are several strategies leaders can enact to ease the strain of downsizing, i.e., work schedule adjustments, options for early retirement, retention bonuses, job-sharing, and flextime (Shafagatova & Van Looy, 2020). Managers who use these strategies may positively impact the strength of the remaining workforce, and the future of the organization. Talent management is used to attract skilled personnel to the company. Ahsan (2018) described talent management as an organization's set of strategies for identifying, attracting, developing, retaining, and promoting talent throughout the employee's tenure with the organization. Talent management is collection of policies that govern human resources and the manner of acquiring and maintaining skilled personnel (Ahsan, 2018). According to Kichuk et al., (2019), talent management is the administration of an employee's whole work life, from recruiting to retirement. Ahsan (2018) advised that the acknowledgment of talent is the foundation for talent management and talent itself is the foundation. Employer recruiters use talent as a measure of compatibility to organizational requirements.

Losing skilled personnel can be a threat to future business operations. When an organization is unable to identify and develop outstanding workers in the near term, it will struggle to determine whether an employee has the potential to maintain a talent position in the future (Agwu et al., 2018). During a downsizing, leaders may lose the expertise that some employees have which may provide crucial to the stabilization of the company after downsizing. Researcher Theodotou (2018) asserted that a successful organizational culture promotes cross-training and information-sharing which, in turn, may reduce the amount of knowledge leaving the company with the ex-employees. Increased talent retention can positively impact an organization's success after downsizing.

Some management techniques could assist a company maintain most of the talented staff. Barreiro and Treglown (2020) suggested that investing in talent

management efforts would generate positive results such as increased employee happiness, engagement, motivation, and dedication. Ahsan (2018) recommended that an organization create a talent database to fill strategic positions within the organization and satisfy the organization's future requirement for critical expertise. Fuller et al. (2019) concurred with Nienaber and Martins (2020) that business leaders experience anxiety while implementing futuristic strategies and must consider the need to invest in continuation of operation strategies or succession planning as part of their talent retention strategy. Wallenstein et al. (2019) postulated that some corporations' existence relies on strategic planning and management of talented staff that are dedicated to helping reach organizational goals. Agreeably, the authors reasoned that a company's continued survival heavily depends on talent retention.

Transition

In Section 1, I presented an overview of the foundation of the study, background of the problem, problem and purpose, nature of the study, research and interview questions, a review of the conceptual framework, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and the significance of the study. I concluded Section 1 with a review of the literature exploring strategies that business leaders use to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing.

In Section 2, I reiterated the purpose of the study, and present further discussions on the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants in the study, research method, study design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, data organization, and data analysis. I included a discussion on how I will ensure reliability and validity of my research. In Section 3, I reintroduced the purpose of the study and presented the findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, and make suggestions for additional research. Finally, I reflected on my experience conducting this study within the doctoral program.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 contains a reiteration of the purpose statement, the research method, research design, details of population and sampling, and review of ethical research. It also contains an overview of the data collection instruments and techniques as well as data organization and analysis. Section 2 concludes with information about the study's reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to manage employee morale after downsizing. The target population included three leaders at a company in central Maryland who successfully managed employee morale after downsizing resulting in increased productivity and profitability. The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by identifying strategies business leaders can use to manage this fear and improve employee morale, thereby improving job sustainability, leading to happier families, employees, and communities.

Role of the Researcher

I served as the primary data collection instrument in this study. The role of the researcher in a qualitative single exploratory case study is to act as the data collection instrument and to determine the proper research method, select the appropriate participants, and to collect, analyze, and report the data (Karagiozis, 2018). In my role as the primary data collection instrument, I generated, transcribed, analyzed, and verified the data. I also designed the study and conducted interviews with the participants.

Bias should be minimized in research. Many researchers in qualitative studies strive to minimize bias (Wadams & Park, 2018). To reduce researcher bias, I put aside my personal views and opinions of the organization's leadership team and focused only on the data collected from the participants. Also, I documented the data collection and reporting processes as the researcher reflects on personal views that may affect the study. Plutzer (2019) denoted that documenting the processes while collecting data helps to mitigate personal bias. I conducted the study with complete transparency by using member checking. Member checking is an exhaustion of the validation of the findings until no new data is repeated (Brear, 2019; Yin, 2018). Furthermore, by using member checking, I ensured that none of my own preferences are included in the research analysis.

As a qualitative researcher, I followed ethical processes. The researcher's role is to conduct the research study with the highest standards of ethics by adhering to the Belmont report protocol and Institutional Review Board (IRB) for Ethical Standards (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). The Belmont report contains an emphasis on the three principles of ethics to include having respect for your participants (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I provided an informed consent form for each participant to review and sign. The consent form was written in language easily understood and I made each participant aware that the study is completely voluntary. I then ensured beneficence by minimizing the risks associated with partaking in research by masking each participant's identity. Lastly, I achieved justice by providing the benefit of learning new strategies to manage their employees after downsizing, which may help organizations to become more profitable.

Participants should not be given monetary or other incentives to participate in research. Incentives can be considered motives for participants or considered as coercion to participate (Grady, 2019). The Belmont report contains an emphasis on the need to use consent forms to ensure the participants' full agreement to participate in the voluntary study (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). The participants were aware that their participation in the research study was completely voluntary and optional and that they were within their rights to withdraw from the study at any time, and for any reason. I verbally advised the participants of this right during email invitation and I requested that the participants return the signed consent forms before I began an interview. A consent form is an agreement between the researcher and the participant designed to ensure the protection of human subjects and data collected, as well as to adhere to ethical principles and guidelines (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Hence, by signing the consent form, the participant demonstrated full acknowledgement of the voluntary nature of the study. After receiving the participants' consent form via email, agreeing to participate in the study, I conducted the interviews via audio or videoconference. In the semistructured interviews I asked six open-ended questions to gain an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon. I triangulated information with a review of public financial statements found on the internet.

Researchers must conduct their studies with the highest integrity to be considered valid (Elo et al., 2014). As the researcher, I ensured that my interviews were conducted ethically. I did not use personal experiences or perceptions to conclude the results of the study to mitigate bias. I used reflexive inquiry as a means of interpreting the data through a personal lens. A reflexive inquiry is a tool used to assess the way choices in communication relate to ethical standards during a study, thereby allowing the reader to recognize potential bias within the study context (Karagiozis, 2018). Researchers are advised to use the technique of reflexivity by acknowledging any preconceived notions regarding the study and the data to be collected that could lead to bias (Fitzpatrick & Olson, 2015; Karagiozis, 2018). I used reflexivity to ensure integrity in my research.

Researchers can use several methods to conduct valid and ethical research. To mitigate bias from this study, I used reflexivity, bracketing, and member checking. When researchers practice reflexivity, they become accountable for the ethical actions performed during research, thereby allowing the reader to recognize potential bias within the study context (Karagiozis, 2018). Bracketing is a process that provides impartiality to nontraditional responses that contribute to the collection of data (Karagiozis, 2018). Member checking is the process of allowing participants to clarify the accuracy of the interpreted responses (Brear, 2019). I conducted each interview session by following the interview protocol (Appendix A) to promote consistency when conducting multiple interviews. Using the interview protocol also promoted consistency and helped to create a relaxed and trusting rapport with the participants. Using a semistructured interview provided the opportunity for each participant to share their perceptions on the same interview questions (see McIntosh & Morse, 2015). Many researchers want to conduct research in a way that will collect rich and in-depth responses from the participants while ensuring the highest ethical standards.

Participants

The participants in this study were three leaders who worked for a corporation located in central Maryland, who successfully experienced a downsizing event within the past 5 years and used strategies to manage employee morale postdownsizing. When conducting a qualitative single case study, it is the researcher's responsibility to ensure that each participant is familiar with the research phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). I used the company directory to gain access to the participants' contact information.

I used purposive sampling to conduct this research. Purposeful sampling is a nonrandom selection of contributors to participate in a study that enhances research and targets a population with similar backgrounds relative to the research topic (Emerson, 2015). Purposive sampling is used as a valuable research method when resources are scarce (Duan et al., 2015). The participants I selected met the inclusion criteria of being employed as leaders of a company during the time the organization downsized. These leaders had first-hand knowledge of strategizing in such a way that would minimize the negative impact of downsizing.

I requested permission from the Walden University IRB to conduct the interviews and review the organization's employee handbooks before any of the participants were contacted, to ensure that I refrained from violating human rights and followed proper ethical procedures. I sent the consent forms to each of the participants via e-mail. After receiving an acknowledged consent from each participant, I called each participant to inform him or her of the letter of invitation forthcoming. The letter contained details of the purpose of the study and an explanation of the interview process. To conduct a qualitative research study, the researchers should establish a working relationship with the participants (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). I sought to build a working relationship with trust (see Valentine et al., 2014). I introduced myself to comfort the tension of the participants and ensured the protection of their confidentiality throughout the study. I conducted the interviews in a familiar and comfortable setting for the participant and at times suitable for him or her.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The research method of this study was a qualitative single exploratory case study approach. I chose the qualitative method to obtain an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon from the perception and experience of research participants. Qualitative researchers are interested in participants' insight, data collected from interviews, and interpretations of the phenomena (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Researchers use qualitative research as a well-balanced method to conduct phenomenological studies and understand social phenomena and exploration of events (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018; Gill 2014). The qualitative method was the most appropriate method for my study as it allowed me to use open-ended semistructured, open-ended interview questions and a review of meeting minutes, handbooks, and human resources personnel documents to explore the perceptions and responses of the participants, through their experiences.

Quantitative researchers examine the relationship between dependent and independent variables in a population using scientific experiments and an analysis of numerical data to prove or disprove a hypothesis (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019; Mukhopadhyay & Gupta, 2014). Quantitative research is a statistical analysis of preconceived hypotheses and used for numerical data (Dorrance, 2017). Moreover, the qualitative method focuses on creating generalizations from part of a target population (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). The nature of this study did not warrant the need to test a hypothesis or compare variables, therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate.

A mixed-method researcher uses a combination of both qualitative and quantitative methods when collecting, analyzing, and interpreting, and testing numerical data (Palinkas et al., 2015). Researchers use the mixed-method approach to gain a deeper understanding for a specific problem, using both qualitative and quantitative research methods (Makrakis & Kostoulas-Makrakis, 2016). I did not use any statistical data so the mixed method approach was not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

I used a qualitative single exploratory case study as the research design as it was most suitable for my research study. Researchers use the qualitative case study to explore and distinguish specific phenomenon within the real-world context within the study (Yin, 2018). Researchers in a case study ask *how* and *why* questions to gather data (Aladdin, 2017). Furthermore, a case study allows the researcher to explore the interaction between case and content, while contributing to the knowledge of an individual, group, and social phenomena (McLeod, 2019; Yin, 2018). Another purpose of a case study is to provide details on specific constructs (McLeod, 2019). Each corporate leader during a downsizing event represents a separate case. A case study could be either single or multiple about a place or time. Researchers use case studies when there are multiple sources of data to examine (Yin, 2018). There are six data resources: (a) documentation, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct observation, (e) participant observation, and (f) physical artifacts (Yin, 2018). In my study, I reviewed and analyzed documentation and interviews as the data retrieved from the participants. My goal was to explore the participants' experiences with enhancing employee morale after downsizing so the single case study was the most appropriate for my study.

I considered other qualitative research designs such as the ethnography design and phenomenological research design. Researchers use ethnography research design to study people and cultures in their environment when collecting data through observation is the desired focus (Dorrance, 2017; Yin, 2018). Ethnographic research involves cultural phenomena as perceived by the subject of the study (Letourneau, 2015). The researcher using ethnography assumes a dual responsibility by experiencing life within the setting and performing in the role of an impartial observer (Yin, 2018). Ethnographers mostly study groups and communities through long-term engagement within the setting (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The focus of this study did not involve culture; therefore, ethnography research was not suitable. The phenomenological design was used to study lived experiences and provides the opportunity for participants to provide their perceptions and views regarding these lived experiences (Breevaart & Zacher, 2019). In the phenomenological research design, the focus is on the meaning of participant's lived experiences (Quay, 2015). I did not choose phenomenological research for this study because it does not involve everyday work experiences or the traumatic impact or interpretation of an individual, and as such, phenomenological research was not appropriate.

In qualitative research, data saturation is achieved when no new or relevant data emerges from repeating the study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). To achieve data saturation, researchers must ensure that replicating the study produces the same themes and results with no new findings (Yin, 2018). Once the researcher determines that the findings are the same and no new data emerges, then data saturation is achieved (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The use of multiple sources of data collection also helps researchers to reach data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I achieved data saturation by interviewing the same participant until no new data was available, or until no new themes arose.

Population and Sampling

In this qualitative single case study, the population was a nonprobabilistic purposive sample size of three business leaders in central Maryland who successfully used a strategy to manage employee morale after downsizing within the past 5 years. Qualitative researchers select their sample population of participants using nonprobability sampling methods (Lanka et al., 2021). The different types of nonprobabilistic sampling include theoretical, purposive, convenience, criterion, snowball, and volunteer (Guetterman, 2020). I used purposive sampling to permit the selection of the participants based on their association with the study criteria (see Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I selected three leaders within an organization to ensure an ample amount of data was collected to answer the research question thoroughly. It is acceptable to use a small population in a case study, as stated by Yin (2018), which confirms that the sample size of three leaders is appropriate. The sample size for this study is appropriate as it provides sufficient data to understand how business leaders use strategies to improve employee morale after downsizing. A nonprobabilistic purposive sampling is the best technique for a case study because the lived experiences of the participants provide thorough data for analysis (Lanka et al., 2021).

In this study, I conducted semistructured interviews and compared themes and patterns that emerged from the research until no new pattern or theme developed to achieve data saturation. I interpreted the findings and sent the interpretations to each participant to ensure accuracy (Lanka et al., 2019). To confirm member checking after analyzing the responses obtained during the interview, researchers can share the interpretation of the responses with the participant for validation (Benoot et al., 2016). I repeated these processes until each participant confirmed that my interpretation was correct.

Ethical Research

The process of conducting research on human subjects requires a full understanding of ethical principles that guide the conduct of the researchers (Ivankova & Wingo, 2018). I requested permission from Walden University's IRB to conduct my study before initiating any contact with the participants to ensure that I protected the ethical rights of the participants. IRB approval ensures that the participants fully understand that they are participating in research (Bajaj, 2017). The IRB approval process warrants the researcher to adhere to ethical rules and standards to protect human participants in a study (Connelly, 2014; Cross et al., 2014). Upon receiving permission from the IRB, I sent each qualified participant a copy of the consent form by e-mail, which contained specific details about the purpose of the research, data collection process, the participants' rights to privacy and confidentiality for the duration of the study. The final doctoral manuscript included the Walden IRB approval number 2870289.

Informed consent is used to protect research participants from risks associated with unethical research (Ivanoska, 2019). The steps involved in informed consent are (a) provide information to participants, (b) ensure the participants understand the information provided, and (c) ensure the participants' involvement is voluntary and of free will (McLaughlin & Alfaro-Velcamp, 2015; Wessels & Visagie, 2015). I informed each participant of the extent of their participation and ensured they were aware of their roles and rights as participants. To confirm consent, the participant replied "I consent" to my email. I also ensured that the participants had all my contact information in case they had questions or concerns prior to signing the consent form. I informed the participants that their participation in the study is voluntary and that they had the right to withdraw from any further involvement with the study at any time and for any reason without penalty. I

instructed the participants to officiate their decision in this regard, to contact me, preferably by email, or in any manner that is convenient to them.

Participants that desired to withdraw from initiating or completing the study were able to do so at any time without any consequences. I informed the participants of their right to refuse to commence or cease to participate in the research at any time. Upon learning of the participant's desire to withdraw, all correspondence with any participant at that time would have ceased and any documents containing data collected during the interview process would have been destroyed. None of the participants in my study withdrew.

I advised the participants they would not receive any incentives to participate in this study. To ensure adequate ethical protection of participants, I followed the Walden University protocol to secure the data collected in this study and, as recommended by Yin (2018) made every effort to avoid compromising confidential information. To ensure confidentiality, I will keep the transcript of the audio, participants' responses, interpretation documents of their responses, notes taken during the interview, and the signed consent form in a locked safe for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all hard copies of written data by shredding any hard copies, and permanently delete any electronic data from my computer hardware and software files. To ensure confidentiality, I did not use the participants' names; instead, I used codes P1, P2, and P3 for the participants and the interview data. All participants were at least 18 years old and participated under their own free will.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument in this study and ensured that the correct protocol was followed for this study. I used open-ended interview questions during a conference call in this qualitative research as well as publicly available company documents as additional sources of evidence. Data collection was the process used to collect information used in research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Yin (2018) defined employee records as sources of evidence. The interview protocol (Appendix A) contains the steps to follow to conduct interviews with the participants. The purpose for conducting these interviews was to gather data during telephone conference interviews using the interview protocol (Appendix A) as a guide to ensure the process remains consistent (Hayashi et al., 2019). McGrath et al. (2019) noted that conducting semistructured interviews is a valid method of obtaining the participant's responses to the research questions.

I recorded all participants' responses with the participants' knowledge and approval using an audio recorder to ensure accuracy of documentation and analysis. I used the interview questions to explore strategies some business leaders use to improve employee morale after downsizing. The interview was a primary data source and was a means for leaders to share their phenomenon regarding their experiences with strategies used during downsizing (Brear, 2019).

Reliability and validity are critical elements that warrant accurate and honest results of a study (Moustakas, 1994). To enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection process, member checking was a means for participants to review and confirm the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation of the participant's responses (Brear, 2019). Brear also asserted that member checking gives the participants the opportunity to convey their opinions to the research. I used member checking to ensure my interpretations of the participant's responses were correct, and I continued to confirm the accuracy of their responses until there was no new data. When data from all sources (not just the interviews) is repetitive, the data is saturated.

In addition, I further enhanced reliability and validity by using methodological triangulation of multiple data collection methods such as responses to the interview questions in conjunction with meeting minutes, policy handbooks, and human resources personnel records. In addition to reviewing the company documents, I interviewed each of the participants using the interview protocol (Appendix A), to ensure consistency of the interview process. I conducted teleconference interviews with corporate leaders in central Maryland during a time of the participant's choice. Conducting the interviews during a convenient time provides the participant a level of comfort that will support open and honest communication with little to no distractions (McGrath et al., 2019). Following the interview, I provided email transcripts to the participants to review and validate the information I collected.

Data Collection Technique

Researchers can use six possible sources to collect data in a case study: (a) documentation, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct observations, (e) participant observation, and (f) physical artifacts (Marion & Mann-Feder, 2020; Yin, 2018). As the primary data collection instrument, I used semistructured interviews in combination with

the interview protocol (Appendix A) as well as documentation including (a) meeting minutes, (b) policy handbooks, and (c) human resources personnel records as the data collection techniques. After I received approval from the Walden University's IRB, I sent each potential participant an invitation letter via e-mail containing details of the study that described the purpose of conducting the research. Bajaj (2017) suggested that the IRB process ensures participants realize and consent to their participation in research. The e-mail also indicated that if the participant willingly agrees to participate in the study, he or she must respond by stating in a return email "I consent". I used the telephone conference technique as part of a qualitative single case study to collect data from the participants that includes audio recording and storing responses to questions. Meurer and Costa (2020) denoted that a study relies on data to resolve the questions in a study. Each interview consisted of six open-ended questions and were a maximum of 60 minutes in length unless the participant chose to prolong it by sharing more information. In the first step of the interview following the interview protocol (Appendix A), I introduced myself and made sure the participant was at ease, attentive and understood the forthcoming process.

The advantage of semistructured interviews and member checking was that the researcher could ask the participants to elaborate on or clarify their answers if needed. Additionally, by conducting an interview, the researcher gains an advantage by listening to verbal cues (i.e., sighs, hesitation). Adu (2019) emphasized the relevance of having a connection with the participants to facilitate an atmosphere conducive to answering questions. Rowley (2012) stated that semistructured interviews help facilitate a clear

perception of the processes. A potential disadvantage of a semistructured interview is the extra amount of effort required on the interviewer's behalf to collect and analyze the data (Rowley, 2012). Lin et al (2018) concurred with Yin (2018) and advised that archival records are stable, discreet and provide a broad range of information. The disadvantage of using archival records is that the information may be private, sensitive, and difficult to analyze.

During the interview, the participants revealed some of the strategic options used to manage employee morale in recent downsizing events. To provide anonymity, I assigned codes to each participant such as P1, P2, and P3 instead of actual names to protect their identity. I recorded the date, time, and any other pertinent demographics. Upon completion of the interviews, I interpreted each participant's responses and transcribed them on a Microsoft Word document to confirm my interpretation. I provided the participants with a summary of the interview for concurrence with the validity and accuracy of the content. During this member checking process, each participant had the opportunity to review the answers for correctness, and update, if necessary (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I continued to confirm the correctness of my interpretation of each participant's responses until the participant confirmed accuracy and there was no new information to include. This process of member checking confirmed the accuracy of the information collected during the interview and provided an opportunity to make corrections or clarifications, as well as provide additional information if needed. Data saturation was reached when I did not identify any new themes from the interview and the review of the documents. I thanked the participants for their participation in the study.

Data Organization Technique

Using the appropriate data organization techniques was a critical part of storing and securing data collected. Lanka et al. (2021) recommended researchers record their interviews, so they do not misinterpret the responses. I recorded the interview session using my iPhone 14 to ensure that I reviewed all data. The use of digital recording devices increases accuracy during data collection (Patton, 2015). I tested my phone prior to the meeting to ensure it worked properly. The consent form included information informing the participants that I would be recording the session. McGrath et al., (2019) advised researchers to take notes during the interview of their observations. I will use a pen and a notepad to take descriptive notes and record the day, time, and location of the interview.

At the end of the interview, I reviewed the human resource (HR) documentation including (a) meeting minutes, (b) policy handbooks, and (c) human resources personnel records to compare the responses. I provided each of the participants with an interpretive summary of my notes for their review. Many qualitative researchers used interviews to collect data for studying human phenomena (Jentoft & Olsen, 2017). Member checking ensures that the interpretation is accurate (Yin, 2018). I performed member checking by providing the participants with a summary of the interview allowing an opportunity to review and correct, if necessary, my interpretation of their responses.

If any changes were necessary, either the participant or I edited the information at that time, and once all information was accurate, I then entered the data into the NVivo to code and analyze the data for reporting. Robins and Eisen (2017) concurred with Adu

(2019) that NVivo is a reliable software used by qualitative researchers to analyze data quickly, effectively, and accurately (Adu, 2019; Yin, 2018). The transcribing feature in the NVivo software allowed the researcher to control the playback speed to ensure the researcher captured the words verbatim. This software can be a valuable resource to manage data collected in the research process.

As a qualitative researcher, I discussed my obligation to disclose confidentiality and privacy with each of the participants. I kept all existing versions of the data safe and secured by continuing to use pseudonyms instead of names for 5 years. No one else will have access to this data or the participants' names. After 5 years, I will destroy all media, and documents containing data from these interviews. I will erase my files and permanently delete them as well as shred the hard copies.

Data Analysis

Researchers use several tactics to strengthen the study. Methodological triangulation in qualitative research involves using various types of data collection methods to compare, thereby validating the findings, thereby adding value (Natow, 2020). Methodological triangulation consists of using and comparing data from multiple sources (Denzin, 1979). For this study, I used methodological triangulation. Linneberg and Korsgaard (2019) noted that the gathering of various types of data collectively in the same study will help to accumulate information that is in-depth and rich (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I created the interview questions to align with the overarching research question. In addition to conducting open-ended, semistructured interview and observations of the participants' body language, I collected human

resources documentation including (a) meeting minutes, (b) policy handbooks, and (c) human resources personnel records to ensure methodological triangulation.

I followed the five logical and sequential steps of data analysis as denoted by Yin (2018): (a) collecting the data, (b) separating the data into groupings, (c) regrouping the data into themes, (d) assessing the information, and (e) developing conclusions. In the first step, collecting the data, I gathered facts and compiled them in a purposeful manner. Yin (2015) described this step as arranging the data in a significant manner. I transcribed the conversation, read the transcripts, listened to the recordings of each interview, wrote my interpretation in a Microsoft Word document, performed member checking by sharing the document for validation, and revised the interview transcript based on feedback from the participant. I also completed document review by reading the documents and creating a new Microsoft Word document with relevant information related to managing employee morale after downsizing. I then imported the applicable data into NVivo.

In the second step, separating the data into groupings, I used NVivo to generate automatic codes, also called child nodes, using the auto-coding feature. Clarke et al. (2021) claimed that NVivo improves the data organization and coding process during research. The third step was regrouping the data into themes. Researchers develop themes by arranging and rearranging data from the research until themes emerge (Yin, 2015). I used NVivo user interface to produce themes based on the organization of the data, also called father nodes. The fourth step of the data analysis was assessing the information. This is a basic step in the effort of making sense of the data and encompassing the

relationships within data (Barbarossa & Sardellitti, 2020). I identified the major themes and established the relation by reflecting on the knowledge acquired from the current literature and the conceptual framework, the transformational leadership theory. The final step in the data analysis process was developing conclusions based on the data (Yin, 2015). This step was critical to understanding the major findings of the study that are derived from patterns and themes relating to the research topic (Yin, 2015). I used the major thematic findings from the study as the main aspects of the findings.

Next, I performed data cleansing. Harvey (2015) described data cleansing as filtering the data to focus only on material relevant to the search criteria. I then used the NVivo software to code and analyze all the remaining interview data. I utilized codes P1, P2, and P3 for the participants and the interview data. NVivo software will detect and identify key themes and word phrases from the data.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Yin (2018) defined reliability as the ability to repeat the research process in a case study and obtain similar results each time. Clancy (2019) suggested that valid and reliable results are obtained when there is a full understanding of the data. I demonstrated reliability by documenting the process involved in data collection and data interpretation. In qualitative research, the dependability of the research describes the level of stability and repeatability of the collected data and confirms that readers can rely on the findings (Elo et al., 2015). The level of dependability can be increased by producing consistent results when interpreting the data and by demonstrating transparency with the results (Yin, 2014).

I used member checking to ensure reliability, credibility, and dependability in my study. Member checking was the preferred validation method when conducting qualitative interviews (Clarke et al., 2021). Researchers use member checking to establish the trustworthiness of qualitative results and confirm the accuracy of the transfer of information from the participant to the analysis of the data McGrath et al (2019). Pereira (2012) proposed that standard procedures used to collect data will add credibility and transferability to a study. Finally, I used member checking to gather rich, thick responses from the participants to obtain data saturation. Data saturation occurs when no new information is revealed during the data collection process (Stake, 2013). I continued to collect data until the information was repetitive and no new patterns emerged.

Validity

In qualitative research, validity refers to selecting the appropriate tools to process the data to enhance the quality of the findings (Leung, 2015). The validity of the study is contingent upon the accuracy of the data results (Gonzalez, et al., 2015). Researchers use creditability, transferability, and confirmability to establish the validity of the data collected (Hayashi et al., 2019; Noble & Smith, 2015). Participants verify and confirm the credibility of the findings depending on how well the researcher interprets the data collected (Kaczynski et al., 2014). Readers of this study must understand that creditability, transferability, and confirmability are necessary to establish the validity of the data collected (Noble & Smith, 2015).

Credibility

Credibility in a qualitative study is accurately representing participant views (Stewart et al., 2017). Credibility implies that the trustworthiness of a qualitative study aligns with the truthfulness of the data presented (Brear, 2019; Stewart et al., 2017). Credibility was necessary to ensure the accuracy of the data results (Noble & Smith, 2015). Researchers can use methodological triangulation, member checking, and prolonged engagement to confirm the credibility of a study (Black et al., 2013). I also used data saturation to enhance the credibility of the study results, and the quality of the research results. Data saturation occurs when analyzing the data collected from the interviews produces no further information, concluding the interview process (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014).

Methodological triangulation is using multiple data-gathering methods such as interviews, observations, and documents (Denzin, 1979). In addition to conducting openended semistructured interviews, I used methodological triangulation by introducing other data collection methods such as meeting minutes, policy handbooks, and human resources personnel records. The confirmation of data saturation through all sources of data occurs when the researcher notices the same patterns repetitively, and concludes that there is no need for additional data collection (Massis & Kotlar, 2014; Merwe, 2014)

Member checking also involves verifying the interview's interpretations of the responses aligned with the intentions of the participants (Brear, 2019). I used member checking to ensure credibility in my study. Prolonged engagement allows researchers to spend sufficient time with the participants to thoroughly understand and review the

transcript to establish credibility (Noble & Smith, 2015). I ensure that additional time was allotted to capture feedback from the participants.

Transferability

Transferability is the measurement of how much the research findings in one study can be applied to and replicated in other contexts and environment settings (Noble, 2015). A qualitative study may acquire transferability if a random audience can relate the results to their own experiences (Clarke et al., 2021). To enhance transferability, a researcher must provide detailed rich and thick descriptions of the research to help readers decide if transferability will occur (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Ruiz, 2015). I provided detailed descriptions of the participants' interviews to improve transferability. Qualitative researchers achieve data saturation when they explore all parts of a phenomenon until no further information evolves from the collection of data (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Confirmability

Confirmability is the researcher's ability to demonstrate that the data results represent the participant's perceptions and not the biased viewpoints of the researcher (Brear, 2019; Cope, 2014). Connelly (2016) suggested that qualitative researchers use rich and thick descriptions of the data to achieve confirmability. The research of Connelly (2016) and Rose and Johnson (2020) established that adapting the other aspects (i.e., creditability and transferability) of validity, also helps to achieve confirmability. Member checking and methodological triangulation are effective strategies used to enhance confirmability in a qualitative study (Fusch et al., 2018). I utilized member checking and methodological triangulation to enhance confirmability. I also collected data until the information was repetitive, thereby reaching data saturation and enhancing confirmability.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 consists of a restatement of the purpose statement, the details of study approach, including the role of the researcher, the participants, the research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, techniques, and organization, data analysis and reliability and validity of the study. Section 3 will contain the presentation of findings applicable to professional practice, the implications for social change, recommendations for future research, my reflections, and the conclusion of the study. Section 3: Applications to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The findings of this research indicated that (a) effective communication, (b) team building, and (c) training and support are strategies to manage morale after organizational downsizing. The three participants in this study agreed that using these strategies increased morale in their recently downsized organizations leading to increased productivity and profitability.

Presentation of the Findings

To answer the research question "What strategies do business leaders use to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing?" I conducted videoconference interviews with three business leaders of three different organizations. The criteria for inclusion were that participants were business leaders located in central Maryland who had, within the past 5 years, successfully used strategies to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing.

The three main themes that emerged from this data collection process regarding strategies that business leaders use to manage employee morale after downsizing were (a) effective communication, (b) team building, and (c) training and support. Table 2 displays the strategies and the frequency of occurrence, which confirms the effectiveness of the strategies for managing employee morale after downsizing.

Table 2

Main themes	n	Frequency %
Effective communication	3	31
Team building	3	42
Training and support	3	26
Total		100

Strategies Used to Manage Employee Morale After Downsizing

Theme 1: Effective Communication

The first theme to emerge through an analysis of participant responses was effective communication. Do and Nuth (2019) assessed that communication can benefit the leaders as well as the employees when sharing information in an organization. All the participants alluded to using communication as a strategy to manage employee morale in their responses, thereby increasing productivity. P1 expressed that communication is an integral part of implementing strategies to manage morale. P2 stated, "Communication is important as it provides a baseline to successfully managing morale; since we need to have a baseline by which to measure success." P2 and P3 both commented that communication was necessary to rebuild trust and loyalty so that the company can rebound. John et al (2019) asserted that successful organizations rely on communication to interact with the employees. The three participants also agreed that the use of emails is a form of communication and an effective way to collect the ideas and opinions of staff. P1 mentioned, "Bottom-up information in the form of emails provides a forum for the employees to send information from the field." Similarly, P3 said, "Emails empower the staff and encourage idea-sharing." I observed the emails that P1 and P2 shared and noted that the claims by P3 were accurate as each email used verbiage that encouraged

communication and teamwork. P3 also shared past newsletters that announced emails pertaining to great job performance and rewarded hard work. P1 said, "An effective way to reach our employees is letting them know that you recognize and appreciate their efforts, which can help to boost morale." Each participant expressed in agreement that effective communication was beneficial for the employees as well as the organization.

All the participants acknowledged that surveys were another form of communication that was used to get feedback from their employees and gather bottom-up ideas to regain trust within the organization. P1 also mentioned that "When requesting a response to surveys, I always ask my team how I can help them to be more productive." I observed samples of the employee surveys from P1, and the feedback showed that responses to the questions asked supported effective communication. I also read the results of a recent survey shared by P2 that supplemented the evidence provided. P1 and P2 agreed that surveys were an integral source of feedback and really allowed the employees to express their perceptions of their daily jobs. P3 said, "Surveys permitted the staff to communicate open and honest opinions by responding to anonymous surveys regularly."

P2 and P3 conveyed that the use of two-way communication via surveys and suggestion boxes allowed the employees to have a voice and present ideas and concerns regarding company plans. P1 also confirmed "The use of communication to improve the morale warranted the bidirectional flow of information and keeping staff informed of plans for the organization, especially those that impacted the livelihoods of staff." All

participants indicated that communication methods that were used to manage employe morale after downsizing, thereby increasing productivity and profitability.

Theme 2: Team Building

Team building was the second theme to emerge from the data collection process. Each of the three participants believed that team building was used to empower their employees and repair the culture and morale while enhancing working relations amongst the staff. A transformational leader focuses on enhanced knowledge across the organization to increase team building and enhance cohesiveness (Balhara & Bansal, 2019; Mohamed, 2020). P1 and P2 agreed that cohesiveness aligns with team building events and are both significant in reestablishing trust and re-developing groups within the organization. All the participants agreed that team building is an essential part of restoring a team that has morale issues resulting from organizational changes. P1 and P3 concurred that the success of the organization heavily relies on the ability to rebuild the culture and restore trust from the employees through team building. P3 disclosed that,

We had team building sessions at our last town hall meeting, and it was a huge success. It was suggested through one of our workplace surveys that we started sending out after we downsized to get a pulse check on the front-line team. We wanted to begin to understand what the staff needed to create a new culture of joined efforts and unity to foster better relationships and work ethics.

An essential part of an organization's strategy is achieving success based on the strength of the team. Erkutlu and Chafra (2019) suggested that team building encourages employee relationships and helps to create a bond that ultimately impacts organizational

performance. P2 presented a short video excerpt of the most recent team building exercise, revealing the cohesive nature of the activity. After viewing the video and the HR policies for team-building exercises, P2 expressed responses through actions that align with a transformational leadership approach to team building by stating, "My leadership style as a transformational leader helps me to encourage the activities that build trust between leaders and employees." P1 and P3 had similar responses and expressed how the team building activities inspired trust and openness, resulting in increased morale amongst the employees. The findings aligned with the literature review and concurred with the theme of team building in transformational leadership by inspiring cohesiveness and encouraging trust in the workplace. P1 mentioned:

> Employees usually have great ideas that we in leadership need to hear to influence team building. We just need to know what they are. In our organization, we feel that empowering our staff to participate in developing a new culture and help in decision-making will influence work ethics. I encourage my employees to be open to 2-way communication as implied in transformational leadership. One of the best ways to do this is to collaborate with employees in activities that influence cohesiveness. I make sure that my employees and subordinates are comfortable with reaching out to their supervisors and/or me and others on the leadership team. It's important for them to feel secure, important for me and important for the organization. If the employees feel good about their jobs, they will usually stick around and work more efficiently.

71

Leaders that encourage team building may reap bigger benefits within the organization. Do and Nuth (2019) proclaimed that communication is beneficial to employees and all levels of leadership. All the participants agreed that influencing open communication is one of the most effective ways to understand employee morale.

The participants ascribed their success in managing employee morale after organizational downsizing to characteristics linked to the conceptual framework in this study, the transformational leadership theory. The three participants reported that like transformational leaders, effective communication was an important factor in the leadership role to influence independence in the employees. Like transformational leaders, the participants were highly effective and relational, therefore creating a positive impact on morale. In alignment with the literature review, the participants responses aligned with the transformational theory. The literature was linked to the conceptual framework by the consistent theme that employees can collaborate with transformational leaders by providing input and suggestions to resolve issues, thus creating an employeeleader collaborate relationship in which employees develop needed skills (Sajjad et al., 2019).

Theme 3: Training and Support

The final theme to emerge during the data analysis stage was training and support. Participant 1 agreed with Participant 3 and expressed that training and support are mutually important strategies to increase employee morale after downsizing in an organization. Participants 1 and 2 mentioned that training employees for vacated jobs enhanced opportunities for career growth, thereby increasing employee morale. Participant 1 stated,

My employees are typically trained in specific areas needed to perform their jobs. With so many new vacancies, the opportunity to expand their skills and potentially grow their skillset gave staff reasons to look forward to training and learning more. I found that employees that have a clear career path and are sure of their development within their positions tend to perform more efficiently and stay around longer. With a potential career path in sight, employees tend to have increased job satisfaction which in turn increases their productivity.

Participants 2 and 3 had similar views and mentioned the use of training through mentor coaching to develop training plans, performance plans and set annual goals for themselves. The findings agreed with the research of Sutton (2019), who noted that transformational leaders encourage their employees to promote team perception and enhance feelings of belongingness, thereby strengthening self-perception and motivation to perform. I reviewed a copy of the training handbook and HR policies that P3 shared, as well as training policies that regulated compliance. Participant 3 stated,

First, we did a training needs assessment. After realizing that we lost a lot of talent in the downsizing, we determined where we needed the most training. We increased our training budget after the organization downsized to provide staff with extra training opportunities to learn different skills that were previously specific to only certain team members. Some of the external training provided opportunities for newly trained employees and some were even promoted. It

really helped the rapport I had with the teams and team leaders as they realized the potential to grow in this new space. Productivity peaked and employees responded with positive feedback. Training was an essential strategy that helped to enforce my transformational leadership style and increase morale amongst the staff.

P1 and P2 agreed that ongoing investments in employee training events are key strategies to enhance job satisfaction. P1 supported skilled training stating, "We need experienced workers on hand to minimize the negative impact of organizational decisions." P2 preferred continuing education and stated, "Higher learning will create the foundation needed to keep our staff highly educated and efficient." P3 encouraged higher education but required commitments for a period of employment in exchange for paid degrees and trade certifications. P3 shared that five employees were currently enrolled in higher education and taking advantage of this opportunity. P1 mentioned that the organization should provide opportunities to develop and retain highly talented and skilled employees.

The responses from the participants linked to transformational leadership theory, which was the conceptual framework for this study. The participants communicated that training and support were effective contributors to diminishing the knowledge gap of the employees after downsizing. The participants also expressed that training and support contributed to the empowerment of their employees while enhancing their ability to gain knowledge and skills, an advantage for the organization (See Lange et al., 2018). The participants, like transformational leaders, contended that training and support increased

employee morale and feelings of contribution with enhanced skillsets. Transformational leaders aspire to provide support but also delegate and offer less and less supervision as the employee develops needed skills (Lange et al., 2018). In alignment with the literature review, the participants' responses concurred with Ree and Wiig (2020) who asserted that employee morale and performance are relational and can be improved with new skills. Ree and Wiig also contended that employee morale is enhanced through training and new job responsibilities, allowing employees to contribute confidently to the work environment, which contributes to the enhanced employee morale.

Applications to Professional Practice

According to the findings of this study, effective communication, team building, and training and support are successful strategies that business leaders use to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing. Business leaders who use these findings may experience enhanced levels of morale amongst their staff leading to high performance. Further, business leaders who practice these findings may attain desired results such as higher emotional commitment, employee loyalty, higher productivity, and company profitability. Noor and Ampornstira (2019) contended that employees with higher morale tend to be more productive and motivated. This study is vital to business leaders because the findings demonstrate the relevance of effective communication, team building, and training and support and how these strategies can manage morale to increase productivity and motivation, creating sustainability in the organization.

The findings in this study revealed that effective communication is critical in building a rapport with employees to achieve productivity and profitability. Stater and Stater (2018) posited that effective communication can positively influence job satisfaction and strengthen the relationship between leadership and employees within the workplace. Communication can precede the development of strategies that will enhance employee morale after downsizing. Business leaders that encourage effective communication flow provide a sense of assurance to the employees, helping them to feel a strong connection to the organization. Business leaders who focus on developing strategies to enhance morale after downsizing tend to care about their employees as well as the profitability of the organization.

The findings from this research study also revealed team building as a valuable tool to help engage employees and repair cohesiveness and working relationships after organizational downsizing. Engaged employees that form close working relationships are motivated, enthusiastic, and more productive in the workplace (Hidayah Ibrahim et al., 2019). Business leaders who strive to increase team building across the organization understand the importance of cohesiveness in peer relationships and the impact on personal growth and development. Team building exercises encourage trust and reliance between cohorts, supporting the ability to collaborate toward goals. Business leaders also engage their employees by encouraging relationships through activities that leverage the formation of new relationships to replace feelings of lost trust and integrity. The findings show the benefits of team building fosters higher morale and a team environment in the workplace.

The findings of this study also disclosed that training and support can be strategic methods used to align the values of the employee with those of the organization,

positively impacting the workplace (Bin Ahmad & Jasimuddin, 2021g). Business leaders should ensure employees are cross-functional trained to stretch an employee's skillset by providing on-the-job or other options that create promotional opportunities (Setiawan, 2020). Training can influence morale in employees who in return exhibit positive behaviors such as enhanced commitment, higher productivity, and enhanced job satisfaction.

The study findings could lead to a sustained morale level and improved cohesiveness amongst the employees, which could positively affect productivity. Henderson (2020) noted that employees are vital assets to the organization and are more productive when in a positive state of mind. By completing this study and publishing the findings, business leaders may use this information to manage motivation, job satisfaction, and the emotional state of their staff to help to encourage productivity and profitability for the organization.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include tangible strategies that future business leaders can use to manage morale in downsized companies to strengthen the emotional health of the impacted employees leading to higher self-esteem and better performance for the benefit of maintaining organizational productivity and profitability. The findings in this study may contribute to the professional practice of business by improving the mental and emotional health of the workers and creating job stability in the community. Noor and Ampornstira (2019) contended that employees with higher morale tend to be more productive and motivated. This study is vital to business leaders because the findings demonstrate the relevance of effective communication, team building, and training and support to increased job stability by creating more emotionally healthy workers. Without the strategies needed to manage morale, we may lack healthy relationships with employees that remain after downsizing, preventing the rebuilding of a work culture needed to secure the profitability of the organization. By rebuilding the organization, we help the economy by creating jobs, influencing incoming growth, and improving the quality of life of the people in the community. The findings are significant to positive social change because business leaders who manage employee morale after organizational downsizing may maintain the company's productivity and profitability, thereby increasing employee stability and emotional state (Maccagnan et al., 2018). Emotionally healthy employees can create a better livelihood and enhanced well-being in the community.

Business leaders that represent organizations that exemplify concern and compassion for their employees can improve trust in relationships amongst cohorts leading to high morale, loyalty, pride, and a positive reputation within the community (Vega-Zamora et al., 2019). Employees with high morale generally seek employment longevity, which increases employee retention and organizational success, leading to corporate profitability and potential job creation and economic growth within the local community. This study contributed to the body of knowledge regarding the strategies business leaders use to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing.

Recommendations for Action

Business leaders in organizations that have downsized can utilize these strategies to monitor changes in employee behavior and work ethics to understand the impact on the organization. Alozie (2020) revealed that managing employee morale can improve productivity and profitability. I recommend that employers ensure a healthy emotional state for their employees to minimize the negative impact of downsizing, and ensure an atmosphere of loyalty, trust, and motivation to benefit the employees as well as the organization.

Effective communication, team building and training and support may lead to shared ideas, goals, and resolutions. Managing morale in employees, especially after downsizing, can be beneficial in the rebuilding of the organization and reparation of trust, loyalty, and employee relationships. I recommend that leaders encourage two-way communication and team building amongst the employees to gain a better assessment of their level of happiness, which may increase retention. I recommend that employers implement a method for workers to present their feedback and ideas with some anonymity, if necessary, to ensure honesty. Workers should be able to provide communication without the worry of reprimand. I also recommend training programs and support groups be always available to employees. Support groups may help employees who are left with emotional trauma from the organizational changes. Also called counseling sessions, the groups should be free of charge and available to every employee. Employees may perceive this as compassion and empathy and respond with care and return increased productivity. This study identified the transformational leadership theory as a method to align the organization with the emotional state and sensitivity levels of the employees. A transformational leader displays a desire to develop an effective team that is knowledgeable, competent, and hard-working (Waglay, 2020). Leaders that engage employees tend to motivate the workers, and build trust and commitment (Islam & Khan, 2020). The findings suggested that leaders could benefit from structuring their organizations to introduce team building and training and support as a normal business function.

The findings in this study are relevant to business leaders in downsized organizations. The focus of this study is to help organizations manage employee morale after downsizing to motivate remaining staff, regain employee trust and loyalty, and improve productivity and profitability. I will submit the findings in this study in part or in whole for publication through the ProQuest/UMI dissertations database for future researchers to consult.

Recommendation for Further Research

This study had limitations that future researchers can address. The sample of this study consisted of three business leaders in central Maryland, who successfully used strategies to manage employee morale in organizations after downsizing. The study was limited to three leaders in one organization, and at one location. I recommend that future researchers expand the study to a larger sample size in multiple organizations, at various locations, which could yield richer data resulting in additional strategies to manage morale. I also recommend that future researchers consider exploring the effectiveness of

the strategies found in this study: effective communication, team building, and training and support. My research had limitations on the breadth and depth of the usefulness of these strategies due to limited research at one company and one location.

Reflections

The doctoral program has been one of the most challenging feats I have attempted in my life. I started this program during a time when I had a few other priorities in my life, and I did not see a feasible way to accomplish my goal. After a few pauses, I registered with a new determination to complete this course and not quit. I kept pushing and with the support of my family I am finally able to achieve my personal goal of becoming a doctor. During this journey, I learned so much patience, perseverance, writing, comprehending, and composition. I learned the importance of reading comprehension and critical thinking. I learned to be selective in my studies and to write everything down.

In my research, I interviewed experienced leaders who have successfully managed employee morale after organizational downsizing. I collected an array of important information during the interviews with the participants. At the beginning of my research, I may have had preconceived ideas about the findings, however, I kept an open mind and learned a lot about leadership, morale, and profitability. This allowed me to put aside any of my biased opinions I may have had about downsized organizations, transformational leaders, business leaders, and employee morale. I am grateful to the participants who participated in the interviews despite their busy schedules. The interviews may play a vital role in helping someone during their search for strategies to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing. This process has been long and stressful at times; however, I am so thankful to the professors, librarians, my fellow classmates, and the doctoral program for this remarkable opportunity. I have expanded my knowledge of the importance of strategies to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing.

Conclusion

The lack of strategic planning after organizational downsizing can negatively impact the business process and can lead to lowered morale resulting in decreased motivation, profitability, and productivity. Therefore, business leaders may benefit from developing and implementing successful workplace strategies to manage employee morale after organizational downsizing. Sustaining an atmosphere with high morale is required to create motivated and productive employees in a positive working environment (Muhammed & Soumyaja, 2019). The finding of this research study suggested that business leaders may successfully manage employee morale in downsized organizations by utilizing strategic measures of (a) effective communication, (b) team building, and (c) training and support. Finally, I concluded that organizational success after downsizing relies heavily on business leaders' ability to plan, develop, and implement strategies to manage employee morale.

References

- Abelha, D. M., da Costa Carneiro, P. C., & de Souza Costa Neves Cavazotte, F. (2018).
 Transformational leadership and job satisfaction: Assessing the influence of organizational contextual factors and individual characteristics. *Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios*, 20(4), 516–532. <u>https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v0i0.3949</u>
- Abid, G., Contreras, F., Ahmed, S., & Qazi, T. (2019). Contextual factors and organizational commitment: Examining the mediating role of thriving at work. *Sustainability*, *11*(17), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174686</u>
- Adu, P. (2019). Using NVivo 12 to analyze qualitative data. *A Step-by-Step Guide to Qualitative Data Coding*, *11*, 221–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351044516</u>
- Agwu, E., Carter, A.-L., & Murray, P. J. (2018). Downsizing as a strategic tool for effective organizational management: A case study of Nigerian banks.
 International Journal of Research in Management, Science & Technology, 2(1),
- Ahsan, M. (2018). Effective recruitment and selection along with succession planning towards leadership development, employee retention and talent management in 116 Pakistan. *Journal of Entrepreneurship & Organization Management*, 7, 1-8. https://doi.10.4172/2169-026X.1000233
- Al-Ali, W., Ameen, A., Isaac, O., Khalifa, G. S., & Shibami, A. H. (2019). The mediating effect of job happiness on the relationship between job satisfaction and employee performance and turnover intentions: A case study on the oil and gas industry in the United Arab Emirates. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, *13*(4), 103–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.24052/JBRMR/V13IS04/ART-09</u>

- Aladdin, A. (2017). Mixed-method approach on motivational orientations of learning Arabic as a foreign language in Malaysia. *Akademika*, 87(1), 291-301. https://doi.org/10.17576/akad-2017-8701-22
- Ali, Z., Sabir, S., & Mehreen, A. (2019). Predicting engagement and performance 91 through firm's internal factors. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, 16(5), 763-780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-11-2018-0098</u>
- Alloubani, A., Akhu-Zaheya, L., Abdelhafiz, I. M., & Almatari, M. (2019). Leadership styles and theories. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 32, 1022–1033. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-06-2018-0138</u>

Aloysius, O. (2018). Review of youth motivation and transformational leadership style. *Journal of Education, Society and Behavioral Science, 24*(4), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.9734/JESBS/2018/40260</u>

- Alozie, O. E. (2020). Diversity v multiculturalism advantages and disadvantages of workplace diversity. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 10(1), 135-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.29322/ijsrp.10.01.2020.p9720</u>
- Amarneh, S., & Muthuveloo, R. (2020). Human resource management practices and person-organization fit towards nurses' job satisfaction. *Management Science Letters*, 10(14), 3197-3206. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.6.019</u>
- Anaf, J., Baum, F., Newman, L., Ziersch, A., & Jolley, G. (2013). The interplay between structure and agency in shaping the mental health consequences of job loss. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-110</u>

- Arman, R. (2014). Death metaphors and factory closure. *Culture & Organization*, 20(1), 23-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14759551.2013.851679</u>
- Bajaj, R. V. (2017). Credit risk capital estimation under IRB Approach for banks in India. Journal of Quantitative Economics, 54, 23-29.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40953-017-0082-7

- Balhara, S., & Bansal, H. (2019). Impact of transformational leadership style dimensions on organizational performance: An empirical analysis. *Sumedha Journal of Management*, 8(2), 47-57. <u>https://doi.org/2276739028/se-2?accountid=32521</u>
- Barbarossa, S., & Sardellitti, S. (2020). Topological signal processing: Making sense of data building on multiway relations. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 37(6), 174-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MSP.2020.3014067</u>
- Barreiro, C. A., & Treglown, L. (2020). What makes an engaged employee? A facet-level approach to trait emotional intelligence as a predictor of employee engagement.
 Personality and Individual Differences, 159, 109892.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.109892

Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 21(3), 63-34. <u>https://doi.http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939</u>

Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectation: Free Press.

Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(21), 2-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6

Black, J. D., Palombaro, K. M., & Dole, R. L. (2013). Student experiences in creating and launching a student-led physical therapy pro bono clinic: A qualitative investigation. *Physical Therapy*, 93, 637-648.

https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20110430

- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2018). *Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end.* Sage Publications.
- Boamah, S. A., Laschinger, H. K. S., Wong, C., & Clarke, S. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes. *Nursing Outlook, 66*, 180-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OUTLOOK.2017.10.004</u>
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944–957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448</u>
- Breevaart, K., & Zacher, H. (2019). Main and interactive effects of weekly transformational and laissez-faire leadership on follower's trust in the leader and leader effectiveness. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 92, 384-409. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12253
- Bryson, J., Edwards, L. & Van Slyke, D. (2017): Getting strategic about strategic planning research. *Public Management Review*, 20(3), 317-339. https://doi.10.1080/14719037.2017.1285111
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, (2021). *Job openings and labor turnover*. U.S. Department of Labor. <u>https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/jolts.pdf</u>

Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.

- Carleton, E. L., Barling, J., & Trivisonno, M. (2018). Leaders' trait mindfulness and transformational leadership: The mediating roles of leaders' positive affect and leadership self-efficacy. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science / Revue 109 Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement, 50*, 185-194.
 https://doi:10.1037/cbs0000103
- Cascio, W. F. (2010). Employment downsizing: Causes, costs, and consequences. In L. Stadtler, A., Schnitt, P., Klarner, T., & Straub (Eds.), *More than bricks in the wall: Organizational perspectives for sustainable success* (pp. 87–96). Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Chen, S. P., & Mykletun, R. J. (2015). Beyond post-downsizing organizational injustice and counterproductive work behaviors: Antecedents and consequences of learnt helplessness. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(6), 1-14. http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/ijbm/article/view/44644
- Clair, J., Ladge, J. J., & Cotton, R. (2016). This is how we do it: How perceived prosocial impact offsets negative personal outcomes associated with carrying out necessary evils. *Journal of Management Inquiry* 25, 301-321. https://doi.org/10.1177/1056492615612577
- Clarke, S. O., Coates, W. C., & Jordan, J. (2021). A practical guide for conducting qualitative research in medical education: Part 3—Using software for qualitative analysis. *AEM Education and Training*, 2021(5), Article e10644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aet2.10644</u>

- Cohee, G. L. (2019). Corporate downsizing. Organizational Dynamics, 48, 38-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/orgdyn.2018.01.004
- Connelly, L. M. (2014). Ethical considerations in research studies. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 23, 54-55.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25, 435-436.
- Cross, J., Pickering, K., & Hickey, M. (2014). Community-based participatory research, ethics, and Institutional Review Boards: Untying a gordian knot. *Critical Sociology*, 41, 1007-1026 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920513512696</u>
- Dane, F. C. (2018). Evaluating research: Methodology for people who need to read research. Sage.
- Davis, P. J. (2020). Getting employees involved in strategy planning. *Journal of Business* 100 Strategy, 41(1), 58-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-04-2018-0060</u>
- Dawson, C. (2019). Introduction to research methods: A practical guide for anyone undertaking a research project (5th ed.). Robinson.
- De Ruiter, M., Schalk, R., Schaveling, J., & van Gelder, D. (2017). Psychological contract breach in the anticipatory stage of change: Employee responses and the moderating role of supervisory informational justice. *Journal of Applied Behavior Science*, 53(1), 66-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886316672724</u>
- Demircioglu, M. A. (2021). Sources of innovation, autonomy, and employee job satisfaction in public organizations. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 44(1), 155–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2020.1820350</u>

- Denzin, N. K. (1979). *The research act: A theoretical introduction to sociological methods*. Aldine Transaction
- Do, D. T., & Nuth, A. (2019). Academic library middle managers as leaders: In their own words. *Journal of Library Administration*, 60(1), 41-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2019.1671036</u>
- Donohue, R., & Tham, T. L. (2019). Career management in the 21st century.
 Contemporary HRM Issues in the 21st Century. *Emerald Publishing Limited*, 51-68. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78973-457-720191008
- Dorrance, E. (2017). Qualitative & quantitative tools. *BizInfluent*. https://bizfluent.com/info-8166999-qualitative-quantitative-tools.html
- Drucker, P. F. (1999). Knowledge-worker productivity: The biggest challenge. *California Management Review*, 41(2), 79-94.
- Duan, N., Bhaumik, D. K., Palinkas, L. A., Hoagwood, K. (2015). Optimal design and purposeful sampling: Complementary methodologies for implementation research. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 42, 524. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-014-0596-7
- Dust, S. B., Resick, C. J., Margolis, J. A., Mawritz, M. B., & Greenbaum, R. L. (2018).
 Ethical leadership and employee success: Examining the roles of psychological empowerment and emotional exhaustion. *The Leadership Quarterly, 29,* 570-583.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.02.002
- Elder, E. (2017). Downsizing with dignity: Don't forget the survivors. Retrieved from: https://www.risesmart.com/blog/downsizing-dignity-dont-forget-survivors

Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis a focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open, 4*(1), 1-10.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633</u>

Emerson, R. W. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling: How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness (Online)*, 109(2), 164. Retrieved from <u>https://www.afb.org/jvib/jvib_main.asp</u>

- Ennis, M. C., Gong, T., & Okpozo, A. Z. (2018). Examining the mediating roles of affective and normative commitment in the relationship between transformational leadership practices and turnover intention of government employees. *International Journal of Public Administration, 41*, 203-215.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2016.1256894</u>
- Evans, J. D. (2020). Transformational leadership as a role of leadership in the implementation of organizational change. *TURAN: Stratejik Arastirmalar Merkezi*, 12(45), 113-116. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.15189/1308-8041</u>
- Farahnak, L. R., Ehrhart, M. G., Torres, E. M., & Aarons, G. A. (2019). The influence of transformational leadership and leader attitudes on subordinate attitudes and implementation success. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*.
 Advance Online Publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818824529</u>
- Ferris, W. P. (2013). OMJ Is 10th of 84 Journals in quality of business education articles: Plus articles in corporate sustainability, dealing with downsizing, and

endogenization. Organization Management Journal, 10, 211-212. https://doi:10.1080/15416518.2013.859054

- Fitzpatrick, P., & Olson, R. E. (2015). A rough road map to reflexivity in qualitative research into emotions. *Emotion Review*, 7(1), 49-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/175407391454471</u>
- Florah, O. M., Nyagol, M. O., & Oluoch, N. G. (2013). Effects of downsizing on surviving employees of dominion farms Siaya County, Kenya. *Business Management Dynamics*, 3(6), 01-09. Retrieved from http://www.bmdynamics.com/
- Francis, H., & Keegan, A. (2020). The ethics of engagement in an age of austerity: A paradox perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 162(3), 593-607.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3976-1</u>
- Fukui, S., Rollins, A., & Salyers, M. (2020). Characteristics and job stressors associated with turnover and turnover intention among community mental health providers. *Psychiatric Services*, 71(3), 289–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201900246</u>
- Fulce, A. (2018). Reduction-in-force: Management strategies needed to sustain employees' job performance in the transportation industry. (Doctoral dissertation).Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global. (Order No. 10751621)
- Fuller, J. B., Wallenstein, J. K., Raman, M., & de Chalendar, A. (2019). Your workforce is more adaptable than you think. *Harvard Business Review*, 97(3), 118-126. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hbs.edu/</u>

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 20*, 1408-1416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</u>
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02</u>
- Gandolfi, F. (2013). Workforce downsizing: Strategies, archetypes, approaches and tactics. *Journal of Management Research*, 13(2), 67-76. Retrieved from <u>http://www.i-scholar.in/index.php/jmr/search/search</u>
- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research. Organizational Research Methods, 17, 118-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428113518348
- Gillikin, J. (2018). Employee productivity & efficiency calculations. Retrieved from: <u>http://smallbusiness.chron.com/employee-productivity-efficiency-calculations-</u> 841.htm
- Gladisa, F. W., & Susanty, A. I. (2018). Determinant factors of employee satisfaction in the performance appraisal based on management by objectives. Proceeding book of *International Conference on Sustainable Collaboration in Business*, *Technology, Information, and Innovation*, 8, 241-246. https://doi:10.2139/ssrn.3353164

- Ghasabeh, M. S. (2021). Transformational Leadership: Implementing a Cultural Approach in Organizations. *The Journal of Values-Based Leadership*, 14(1), 1-15. https://scholar.valpo.edu
- Gonzalez, V., Rowson, J., & Yoxall, A. (2015). Development of the variable dexterity test: Construction, reliability, and validity. *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 22, 174-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2015.22.4.174</u>
- Grady, C. (2019). The continued complexities of paying research participants. *The American Journal of Bioethics*. 19(9), 5-7.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2019.1643654

- Guerrero, E. G., Frimpong, J., Kong, Y., Fenwick, K., & Aarons, G. A. (2020).
 Advancing theory on the multilevel role of leadership in the implementation of evidence-based health care practices. *Health Care Management Review*, 45(2), 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.00000000000213
- Guetterman, T. C. (2020). Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods research sampling strategies. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199756810-0241
- Hamilton, A. B., & Finley, E. P. (2020). Reprint of: Qualitative methods in implementation research: An introduction. *Psychiatry Research*, 283, Article 112629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112629</u>
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487</u>

- Hart, A. L., Thomson, N. F., & Huning, T. M. (2016). The mediating role of distributive, procedural, and interactional justice on the relationship between downsizing and organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications, and Conflict, 20*(1), 136-142. Retrieved from https://www.abacademies.org/journal-of-organizational-culture, and conflict.
- Hauer, G., Quan, T. A. J., & Liang, Y. K. (2021). Leadership as an influencing factor in employee retention a case study analysis in East Asian multinational corporations in the digital age. *Revista Română de Informatică Şi Automatică*, 31(1), 89–100. <u>https://doi-.org/10.33436/v31i1y202107</u>
- Havermans, B. M., Brouwers, E. P., Hoek, R. J., Anema, J. R., van der Beek, A. J., & Boot, C. R. (2018). Work stress prevention needs of employees and supervisors. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 642-653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5535-1</u>
- Hayashi, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98-112. https://doi.org/2171118565?accountid=32521
- Heathfield, S. (2020). What is employment? The balanced careers. Retrieved from https://www.thebalancecareers.com/what-is-employment-1918114
- Henderson, M. (2020). The economic case for meeting employees' needs. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(1), 17-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12897</u>

- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Weber, M. B. (2019). What influences saturation?
 Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(10), 1483-1496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318821692</u>
- Herschell, A. D., Kolko, D. J., Hart, J. A., Brabson, L. A., & Gavin, J. G. (2020). Mixed method study of workforce turnover and evidence-based treatment implementation in community behavioral health care settings. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 102,* Article 104419. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104419</u>
- Hidayah Ibrahim, S. N., Suan, C. L., & Karatepe, O. M. (2019). The effects of supervisor support and self-efficacy on call center employees' work engagement and quitting intentions. *International Journal of Manpower*, 40(4), 688-703.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijm-12-2017-0320
- Hjertstrand, J., Palmglen, P. J., Axén, I., & Eklund, A. (2021). The nordic maintenance care program: Patient experience of maintenance care—a qualitative study. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 29(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12998-021-00388-z</u>
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. American Psychologist, 44(3), 513. Retrieved from: <u>http://psycnet.apa.org/search</u>

Hom, P. W., Allen, D. G., & Griffeth, R. W. (2019). Theories of employee turnover. *Employee Retention and Turnover*, 72-121. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315145587

- Hossain, M. (2018). Adoption of open innovation by small firms to develop frugal innovations for inclusive development. *Researching Open Innovation in SMEs*. <u>https://doi:10.1142/9789813230972_0004</u>
- Hossfield, H. (2013). Corporate dieting. Persuasive use of metaphors in downsizing. *Management Revue. The International Review of Management Studies*, 24(1), 53–70. <u>https://doi:10.1688/1861-9908_mrev_2013_01</u>
- Hussein, B., & Yesiltas, M. (2020). The influence of emotional intelligence on employee's counterwork behavior and organizational commitment: Mediating role of transformational leadership. *Revista de Cercetare Si Interventie Sociala,* 71, 377–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.33788/rcis.71.23</u>
- Hwang, E., & Yi, Y. (2021). Workplace spirituality and organizational justice in turnover intention of mental health professionals at small-sized centers. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 30(1), 328–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13459</u>
- Islam, M. N., Furuoka, F., & Idris, A. (2021). Mapping the relationship between transformational leadership, trust in leadership and employee championing behavior during organizational change. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 26(2), 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2020.09.002

Ivankova, N., & Wingo, N. (2018). Applying mixed methods in action research: 120
Methodological potentials and advantages. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(7), 978–997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218772673</u> Jambawo, S. (2018).
Transformational leadership and ethical leadership: their significance in the

mental healthcare system. *British Journal of Nursing*, 27(17), 998–1001. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2018.27.17.998

- Ivanoska, K. S. (2019). The relationship between followers' perceived quality of relationship with the leaders and followership style. *Journal of International Scientific Research*, 105–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.21733/ibad.573409</u>
- Jambawo, S. (2018). Transformational leadership and ethical leadership: Their significance in the mental healthcare system. *British Journal of Nursing*, 27(17), 998–1001. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2018.27.17.998</u>
- Jentoft, N., & Olsen, T. S. (2017). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a 'slow' interview technique enriches data. *Qualitative Social Work, 18*, 179-193.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017712581

- Jensen, M., Potočnik, K., & Chaudhry, S. (2020). A mixed-methods study of CEO transformational leadership and firm performance. *European Management Journal*, 38(6), 836–845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.05.004</u>
- Jeong, S. (2021). A cross-level analysis of organizational knowledge creation: How do transformational leaders interact with their subordinates' expertise and interpersonal relationships? *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 32(2), 111–130. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21416
- Jia, Y., Chen, O., Xiao, Z., Xiao, J., Bian, J., & Jia, H. (2021). Nurses' ethical challenges caring for people with COVID-19: A qualitative study. *Nursing Ethics*, 28(1), 33–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733020944453</u>

Jones, J., Firth, J., Hannibal, C., & Ogunseyin, M. (2019). Factors contributing to organizational change success or failure: A qualitative meta-analysis of 200 110 reflective case studies. *Evidence-based initiatives for organizational change and development*, 155-178. IGI Global.

Kaczynski, D., Salmona, M., & Smith, T. (2014). Qualitative research in finance.
 Australian Journal of Management, 39(1), 127-135.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896212469611</u>

- Kahya, M., & Şahin, F. (2018). The effect of leader personality on follower behavior.
 Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 39, 14-33.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-08-2016-0206
- Kammerhoff, J., Lauenstein, O., & Schütz, A. (2019). Leading toward harmony—
 Different types of conflict mediate how followers' perceptions of
 transformational leadership are related to job satisfaction and performance. *European Management Journal, 37*(2), 210–221.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.06.003

- Kanat-Maymon, Y., Elimelech, M., & Roth, G. (2020). Work motivations as antecedents and outcomes of leadership: Integrating self-determination theory and the full range leadership theory. *European Management Journal*, 38(4), 555–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.01.003</u>
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research: The power of reflexivity. *The International Journal of Interdisciplinary*

Educational Studies, 13(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-

011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31

- Karlsen, J. E. (2014). Design and application for a replicable foresight methodology bridging quantitative and qualitative expert data. *European Journal of Futures Research*, 2(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40309-014-0040-y</u>
- Kichuk, A., Brown, L. & Ladkin, A. (2019). Talent pool exclusion: The hotel employee perspective. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31, 3970-3991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2018-0814</u>
- Kim, B.-J., Park, S., & Kim, T.-H. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on team creativity: Sequential mediating effect of employee's psychological safety and creativity. *Asian Journal of Technology Innovation*, 27(1), 90–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/19761597.2019.1587304
- Klink, R. R., Zhang, J. Q., & Athaide, G. A. (2021). Measuring customer experience management and its impact on financial performance. *European Journal of Marketing*, 55(3), 840–867. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-07-2019-0592</u>
- Kluge, A., Schüffler, A. S., Thim, C., Haase, J., & Gronau, N. (2019). Investigating unlearning and forgetting in organizations: Research methods, designs, and implications. *The Learning Organization*, 26(5), 518–533. https://doi.org/10.1108/TLO-09-2018-0146
- Kolaski, A. Z., & Taylor, J. M. (2019). Critical factors for field staff: The relationship between burnout, coping, and vocational purpose. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 42(4), 398–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825919868817</u>

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kosterlitz, M., & Lewis, J. (2017). From baby boomer to millennial: Succession planning for the future. *Nurse Leader, 15*(6), 396-398.

https://doi.org/10.1016/mnl.2017.09.006

- Krause, W. (2020). Inclusive leadership and work-life balance. *The Routledge Companion to Inclusive Leadership*, 168-176. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429294396-16
- Krisnanda, P. H., & Surya, I. B. (2019). Effect of emotional and spiritual intelligence on transformational leadership and impact on employee performance. *International Research Journal of Management, IT and Social Sciences*, 6(3), 70-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.21744/irjmis.v6n3.634</u>
- Lakshman, C., Linh, C. V., Ladha, R. S., & Gok, K. (2019). Consequences of paying CEOs for downsizing: A four-country study of the impacts on survivors vs. victims. *Management*, 22(2), 250–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.3917/mana.222.0250</u>
- Lange, S., Bormann, K. C., & Rowold, J. (2018). Mindful leadership: Mindfulness as a new antecedent of destructive and transformational leadership behavior. *Gruppe. Interaktion. Organisation. Zeitschrift Für Angewandte Organisationspsychologie (GIO), 49*(2), 139-147.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11612-018-0413-y

- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. *RAC - Revista de Administração Contemporânea*, 25(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en
- Larkin, M., Shaw, R., & Flowers, P. (2019). Multiperspectival designs and processes in interpretative phenomenological analysis research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 16(2), 182–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1540655</u>
- Lazarus, R. S. (2006). Stress and emotion: A new synthesis. Springer publishing company.
- Lee, H.-W. (2019). How does sustainability-oriented human resource management work? Examining mediators on organizational performance. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 42(11), 974–984.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2019.1568459

- Letourneau, J. L. H. (2015). Infusing qualitative research experiences into core counseling curriculum courses. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counseling*, 37, 375-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10447-015-9251-6</u>
- Lei, H., Leaungkhamma, L., & Le, P. (2020). How transformational leadership facilitates innovation capability: The mediating role of employees' psychological capital. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 41*(4), 481-499.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-06-2019-0245</u>
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and transferability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 4, 324-327. <u>https://doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306</u>

- Li, H., Sajjad, N., Wang, Q., Ali, A. M., Khaqan, Z., & Amina, S. (2019). Influence of transformational leadership on employees' innovative work behavior in sustainable organizations: Test of mediation and moderation processes. *Sustainability*, *11*, 1594-1601. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061594</u>
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19, 259–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012</u>
- Low, C. H., Bordia, P., & Bordia, S. (2016). What do employees want and why? An exploration of employee's preferred psychological contract elements across career stages. *Human Relations*, 69, 1457-1481.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726715616468

- Luan, C., Tien, C., & Chi, Y. (2013). Downsizing to the wrong size? A study of the impact of downsizing on firm performance during an economic downturn.
 International Journal of Human Resource Management, 24, 1519-1535.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2012.725073
- Lynch, S. E., & Mors, M. L. (2018). Strategy implementation and organizational change: How formal reorganization affects professional networks. *Long Range Planning*, 1-16. doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2018.02.003
- Mahdi, H. A. A., Abbas, M., Mazar, T. I., & George, S. (2015). A comparative analysis of strategies and business models of Nike, Inc. and Adidas Group with special reference to competitive advantage in the context of a dynamic and competitive

environment. International Journal of Business Management and Economic Research, 6(3), 167-177.

http://modir3-3.ir/article-english/isi328.pdf

- Makrakis, V., & Kostoulas-Makrakis, N. (2016). Bridging the qualitative–quantitative divide: Experiences from conducting a mixed methods evaluation in the RUCAS programme. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *54*, 144-151.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2015.07.008
- Manalo, R. A., de Castro, B., & Uy, C. (2020). The mediating role of job satisfaction on the effect of motivation to organizational commitment and work engagement of private secondary high school teachers in metro-manila. *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research*, *9*, 133-159.
 https://doi.org/2303164739?accountid=32521
- Marion, E., & Mann-Feder, V. (2020). Supporting the educational attainment of youth in residential care: From issues to controversies. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 113, Article 104969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.104969</u>
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage.
- Massis, D. A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study in family business research:
 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5, 15
 29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007]</u>
- McLeod, S. A. (2019, August 3). Case study method. *Simply Psychology*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.simplypsychology.org/case-study.html</u>

- McDowell, W. C., Matthews, L. M., Matthews, R. L., Aaron, J. R., Edmondson, D. R., & Ward, C. B. (2019). The price of success: Balancing the effects of entrepreneurial commitment, work-family conflict, and emotional exhaustion on job satisfaction. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 15(4), 1179–1192.
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews, *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149.
- McGregor, D. (1957). The human side of enterprise (annotated edition) ed. McGraw-Hill. Retrieved from <u>http://www.worldcat.org/title/human-side-of</u> enterprise/oclc/845951195
- McIntosh, M, J., & Morse, J, M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674</u>
- McLaughlin, R., & Alfaro-Velcamp, T. (2015). The vulnerability of immigrants in research: Enhancing protocol development and ethics review. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 13, 27-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10805-015-9225-7</u>
- McManus, S. (2019). Using transformational leadership to reduce employee turnover in hospital organizations (Publication No. 9212) [Doctoral Dissertation, Walden University]. ScholarWorks.
- Mercurio, Z. A. (2015). Affective commitment as a core essence of organizational commitment: An integrative literature review. *Human Resource Development Review*, 14(4), 389-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484315603612</u>

Meurer, A. M., & Costa, F. (2020). Behold the best and worst of me: the impostor phenomenon and academic behavior in the business area. *Revista Contabilidade* & *Finanças - USP*, *31*(83), 348–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1808-057x201910370</u>

Migliaccio, J. N. (2018). A funny thing happened on the way to retirement. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 72(2), 34. Retrieved from https://national.societyoffsp.org/

- Modrek, S., & Cullen, M. R. (2013). Job insecurity during recessions: Effects on survivors' work stress. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-245813-929</u>
- Modrek, S., Hamad, R., & Cullen, M. R. (2015). Psychological well-being during the great recession: Changes in mental health care utilization in an occupational cohort. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, 304-310.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302219

- Mohamed, A. F. S. (2020, 03). Working in concert. *Quality Progress 53*, 42-47. https://doi.org/2380636?accountid=32521
- Moreno, V., Cavazotte, F., & Dutra, J. P. (2020). Psychosocial and organizational antecedents of knowledge sharing in the workplace. *Revista De Administração Contemporânea*, 24(4), 283-299,283A-299A. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2020190239</u>
- Moss, G. (2019). Transactional leadership and its impacts. *Inclusive Leadership*, 47-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315108575</u>

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage Publications Inc.

- Muhammed, S., & Soumyaja, D. (2019). Employee voice and its relation to the morale of employees in the IT sector in South India. Ushus - Journal of Business Management, 18(2), 55-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.12725/ujbm.47.4</u>
- Mukhopadhyay, S., & Gupta, R. K. (2014). Survey of qualitative research methodology in strategy research and implication for Indian researchers. Vision: *Journal of Business Perspective*, 18, 109-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262914528437</u>
- Nairn, K., Showden, C. R., Sligo, J., Matthews, K. R., & Kidman, J. (2020). Consent requires a relationship: Rethinking group consent and its timing in ethnographic research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 23(6), 719–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1760562</u>
- Nathan, K., & Neve, G. (2009). Layoffs. *OD Practitioner*, *41*(4), 18-24. Retrieved from http://www.odnetwork.org/publications/practitioner/index.php
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services.
 Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont report/index.html
 - Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160-173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077

Neves, P. (2014). Taking it out on survivors: Submissive employees, downsizing, and abusive supervision. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 87, 507-534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12061</u>

Nichols, F. K. (2018). Exploring the relationship between principals' leadership style and teachers' job satisfaction in the public-school setting (Doctoral dissertation, Our Lady of the Lake University). ProQuest, LLC. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190219000.013.

- Nienaber, H., & Martins, N. (2020). Exploratory study: Determine which dimensions enhance the levels of employee engagement to improve organisational effectiveness. TQM Journal, 32(3), 475–495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-</u> 2019-0151
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- Norris, S. E., & Norris, A. R. (2019). Applying the full range of leadership: Developing followers and employee engagement in the workplace. Management techniques for employee engagement in contemporary organizations. *ProQuest, LLC*. 109-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-7799-7.ch007</u>
- Noor, A., & Ampornstira, F. (2019). Effects of leadership on employee morale in higher education. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 10(7), 141-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.30845/ijbss.v10n7p15</u>

- Ocasio, W., Loewenstein, J., & Nigam, A. (2015). How streams of communication reproduce and change institutional logics: The role of categories. *Academy of Management Review*, 40(1), 28-48. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2013.0274
- Okurame, D. E., & Osuzoka, A. A. (2014). Exploring the attenuating influence of organizational communication and restorative strategy on subjective job insecurity in merged banks. *IFE Psychology*, *22*(1), 23-38.
- Oncioiu, I., Petrescu, M., Duică, M. C., & Croitoru, G. (2018). The impact of employee motivation on Romanian organizational performance. *Information Resources Management Journal*, 31(4), 59–74. <u>https://doi:10.4018/IRMJ.2018100104</u>

Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *6*(1), 183-246.

https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399

- Paille, P., & Raineri, N. (2016). Trust in the context of psychological contract breach: Implications for environmental sustainability. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 45, 210-220. <u>https://doi.org/:10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.01.003</u>
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y</u>

Parks-Yancy, R. (2011). The impact of downsizing on the social capital resources and

career prospects of African-American survivors. *Journal of African American Studies, 15,* 307–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-010-9147-9</u>

- Parveen, M., & Adeinat, I. (2019). Transformational leadership: Does it really decrease work-related stress? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(8), 860-876. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2019-0023</u>
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Peng, J., Li, M., Wang, Z., & Lin, Y. (2021). Transformational leadership and employees' reactions to organizational change: Evidence from a meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 57(3), 369–397.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320920366

- Pfeffer, J. (2011). Management a profession? Where's the proof? *Harvard Business Review*, 89(9/10), 38.
- Plutzer, E. (2019). Privacy, sensitive questions, and informed consent: Their impacts on total survey error, and the future of survey research. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *83*, 169–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfz017</u>
- Quay, J. (2015). Learning phenomenology with Heidegger: Experiencing the phenomenological "starting point" as the beginning of phenomenological research. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 48, 484-497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2015.1035632</u>
- Rajput, N., Bhatia, S. P., & Malhotra, B. (2019). Generational diversity: An exploratory study on managing multigenerational workforce, a sustainable solution. *Global*

Journal of Enterprise Information System, 11, 37-43. Retrieved from http://www.gjeis.com/

- Ramli, A. H. (2019). Work environment, job satisfaction and employee performance in health services. *Business and Entrepreneurial Review*, 19(1), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.25105/ber.v19i1.5343
- Rauvola, R. S., Rudolph, C. W., Ebbert, L. K., & Zacher, H. (2020). Person–environment fit and work satisfaction: Exploring the conditional effects of age. *Work, Aging and Retirement, 6*(2), 101–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/workar/waz011</u>
- Ray, P., & Maheshwari, S. (2017). The essence of downsizing: A review of literature. Indian Journal of Industrial Relations, 53, 290-301.
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intra-method approach to triangulation. Qualitative Health 121 Research, 28, 842-831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586</u>
- Rickwood, G. (2015). Cultural components of physically active schools. *Strategies*, 28(1), 3-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08924562.2014.980877</u>

Riggio, R. (2020). Transformational leadership traits and components.

https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529719925

- Robbins, S. P., DeCenzo, D. A., & Wolter, R. (2019). *Supervision today (9th* ed.). Pearson Education.
- Robins, C. S., & Eisen, K. (2017). Strategies for the effective use of NVivo in a largescale study: Qualitative analysis and the repeal of don't ask, don't tell.
 Qualitative Inquiry, 23(10), 768-778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731089</u>

- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *1*, 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01409171210154</u>
- Ruiz, L. Z. (2015). Qualitative studies of young people's quality of life in urban and rural areas. In G. Tonon (Ed.), *Qualitative studies in quality of life* (pp. 149-178). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-13779-7_8</u>

 Saengchai, S., Siriattakul, P., & Jermsittiparsert, K. (2019). The mediating role of employee engagement between team and co-worker relation, work environment, training and development and employee performance. *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation, 23*, 853–864.

https://doi.org/10.37200/ijpr/v23i4/pr190414

- Sahu, S., Pathardikar, A., & Kumar, A. (2018). Transformational leadership and turnover: Mediating effects of employee engagement, employer branding, and psychological attachment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(1), 82-99. https://doi:10.1108/LODJ-12-2014-0243
- Sajjad, N. K., Siti, M. A., Abdul, H. B., Mubushar, M., & Khan, I. U. (2019). Reversing the lens. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-03-2019-0100</u>

Sale, J., & Thomas, J. (2020). *Mapping motivation for leadership*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351257046</u>

Sandhya, S., & Sulphey, M. M. (2021). Influence of empowerment, psychological contract and employee engagement on voluntary turnover intentions. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 70(2), 325–349. <u>https://doi.org./10.1108/IJPPM-04-2019-0189</u>

Sawaneh, I. A., & Kamara, F. K. (2019). Evaluating employee retention strategies on job performance. *Science Journal of Business and Management*, 7(3). http://www.sciencepublishinggroup.com/

Schmitt, A., Borzillo, S., & Probst, G. (2012). Don't let knowledge walk away:
Knowledge retention during employee downsizing. *Management Learning*, 43, 53-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1350507611411630</u>

Schulz, A. C., & Johann, S. (2018). Downsizing and the fragility of corporate reputation:
An analysis of the impact of contextual factors. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 34(1), 40-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2017.11.004.</u>

Seyle, H. (1974). Stress without Distress: Philadelphia.

Shanafelt, T. D., & Noseworthy, J. H. (2017). Nine organizational strategies to promote engagement and reduce burnout. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 92, 129-146. <u>https://doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.10.004</u>

Shapira, R. (2019). High-Moral trusting transformational leaders, charismatic Transformational leadership, and charismatic leadership. SSRN Electronic Journal. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3418773</u>

- Shafagatova, A., & Van Looy, A. (2020). A conceptual framework for process-oriented employee appraisals and rewards. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 28(1), 90-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/kpm.1644</u>
- Shahzad, U., Memon, M. A., Khurram, S., & Tan, K. L. (2020). The role of relationship conflict and mindfulness in the consequences of task conflict. *Asian Journal of Business Research*, 9(3), 145-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.14707/ajbr.190071</u>
- Siangchokyoo, N., Klinger, R. L., & Campion, E. D. (2020). Follower transformation as the linchpin of transformational leadership theory: A systematic review and future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 31(1), 1–18.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101341

- Shuck, B. (2019). Final reflections on employee engagement. *Employee Engagement*, 64-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351035064</u>
- Siddiqa, B. (2017). The impact and alternatives of downsizing, a concise review. KAAV International Journal of Economics, Commerce & Business Management, 4(2), 234-242. Retrieved from http://www.kaavpublications.org/
- Singh, D. (2019). A literature review on employee retention with focus on recent trends. International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology (IJSRST), 6, 425-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.32628/ijsrst195463</u>
- Son, H. (2018, October 16). Bank of America CEO Moynihan say he cut job equal to the workforce of Delta Air Line. CNBC. Retrieved from https://www.cnbc.com/2018/10/17/Bank-of-America-CEO-Brian-Moynihan-oncutting-100000-jobs.html

- Stake, R. E. (2013). Single case study analysis. Guilford Press. States News Service (2017). IFA applauds first steps taken to roll back unlimited joint employer standard. Retrieved from https://go.galegroup.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ps/i.do?p=EAIM&u=minn4020 & id=GALE|A494768320&v=2.1&it=r&sid=ebsco&authCount=1
- Stater, K. J., & Stater, M. (2018). Is It "Just Work"? The impact of work rewards on job satisfaction and turnover intent in the nonprofit, for-profit, and public sectors. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 49(4), 495-511.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074018815261

- Stewart, H., Gapp, R., & Harwood, I. (2017). Exploring the alchemy of qualitative management research: Seeking trustworthiness, credibility and rigor through crystallization. *Qualitative Report*, 22(1) 1-19. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Strandholm, K., Schatzel, K., & Callahan, T. (2013). Inducing employees to leave: A comparison of four severance options. *Human Resource Management*, 52, 243-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21526</u>
- Street, T., & Lacey, S. (2018). Accounting for employee health: The productivity cost of leading health risks. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 30(2), 228-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.200</u>

Sumlin, C., Hough, C., & Green, K. (2021). The impact of ethics environment, organizational commitment, and job satisfaction on organizational 140 performance. *Journal of Business & Management*, 27(1), 53–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.6347/JBM.202103_27(1).0003</u>

Suphattanakul, O. (2017). Role of transformational leadership in effective strategic implementation with the moderating effect of organizational culture. *Journal of Business and Social Review in Emerging Economies*, *3*, 253-262.

https://doi:10.26710/jbsee.v3i2.80

- Susskind, A. M., Moore, O. A., & Kacmar, K. M. (2018). Organizational downsizing: How communication networks connect with employee performance. *Cornell Hospitality Report, 18*(4), 3-12. Retrieved from: https://scholarship.sha.cornell.edu/chrpubs/255/
- Street, T., & Lacey, S. (2018). Accounting for employee health: The productivity cost of leading health risks. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 30(2), 228-237. https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.200
- Sutton, L., Rowe, S., Hammerton, G., & Billings, J. (2022). The contribution of organizational factors to vicarious trauma in mental health professionals: A systematic review and narrative synthesis. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.2022278
- Taha, O., & Esenyel, I. (2019). The effect of internal complaints systems on employee retention and turnover intention: The mediating role of organizational justice.

African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure, 8(2), 1-28. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ajhtl.com/</u>

Theodotou, M. (2018, November). Build a Culture of Enduring Learning: Employee disengagement can be costly, but a learning culture can foster an environment that aligns learning with business performance results. *TD Magazine*, 72(11).
Retrieved from

http://link.galegroup.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/apps/doc/A568148058/EAIM?u =minn4020&sid=EAIM&xid=268e6349

- Tiesman, H. M., Konda, S., Hartley, D., Menéndez, C. C., Ridenour, M., & Hendricks, S. (2015). Suicide in U.S. workplaces, 2003-2010. American Journal of Preventive 142 Medicine, 48(6), 674-682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2014.12.011</u>
- Traeger, C., & Alfes, K. (2019). High-performance human resource practices and volunteer engagement: The role of empowerment and organizational identification. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 30*, 1022-1035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-019-00135-2</u>
- Tran, K. T., Nguyen, P. V., Nguyen, T. D., & Ton, U. N. H. (2020). The impact of organizational commitment on the relationship between motivation and turnover intention in the public sector. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity, and Change, 11*(12), 1-25.

https://www.ijicc.net/images/vol11iss12/111201_Tran_2020_E_R.pdf

- Travaglione, A., & Cross, B. (2006). Diminishing the social network in organizations:
 Does there need to be such a phenomenon as ~survivor syndrome" after
 downsizing? Strategic Change, *15*(1), 1-13. https://doi: 10.1002/jsc.743
- Trivedi, K., & Srivastava, K. B. L. (2021). A framework for integrating strategic HR and knowledge management for innovation performance. *Strategic HR Review*, 20(1), 11–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-08-2020-0076</u>
- Tsai, F. J., & Chan, C. C. (2010). Occupational stress and burnout of judges and procurators. *International archives of occupational and environmental health*, 83(2), 133-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-009-0454-1</u>
- Uen, J. F., Chen, S., Chen, H., & Lin, C. (2016). The effect of employer's moral obligation violation on survivor's commitment: The mediating role of justice climate. *Personnel Review*, 45, 214-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-09-2014-0200</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2014). *Informed consent information sheet*. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov
- Vaclavik, E., Staffileno, B., & Carlson, E. (2018). Moral distress: Using mindfulnessbased stress reduction interventions to decrease nurse perceptions of distress. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 22(3), 326-332. https://doi.org/10.1188/18.cjon.326-332

Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376</u> Valentine, S., Nam, S., Hollingworth, D., & Hall, C. (2014). Ethical context and ethical decision making: Examination of an alternative statistical approach for identifying variable relationships. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 124, 509-526.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1879-8

- van Dick, R., Drzensky, F., & Heinz, M. (2016). Goodbye or identify: Detrimental effects of downsizing on identification and survivor performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00771</u>
- Velasco, M., & Sansone, C. (2019). Resistance to diversity and inclusion change initiatives: Strategies for transformational leaders. *Organization Development Journal*, 37(3), 9-20. <u>https://doi.org/2292029527?accountid=32521</u>
- Vito, R. (2020). Key variations in organizational culture and leadership influence: A comparison between three children's mental health and child welfare agencies. *Children and Youth Services Review, 108*, 1-8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104600

- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 14(2), 72-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.000000000000199</u>
- Wegerer, P. K. (2018). Ethical branding as a discoursive resource for employee identity work: A case study. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(2), 102-119. <u>https://doi:10.1177/2397002218760511</u>
- Wessels, J. S., & Visagie, R. G. (2015). The eligibility of public administration research for ethics review: A case study of two international peer-reviewed journals.

International Review of Administrative Sciences. Advance online publication. 1-

21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852315585949

Widyawati, S. R. (2020). The influence of employee engagement, self-esteem, selfefficacy on employee performance in small business. *International Journal of Contemporary Research and Review*, 11(04).

https://doi.org/10.15520/ijcrr.v11i04.799

Wong, S. I., & Giessner, S. R. (2018). The thin line between empowering and laissezfaire leadership: An expectancy-match perspective. *Journal of Management*, 44, 757-783. <u>https://doi:10.1177/0149206315574597</u>

Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods. (5th ed.). Sage.

Younies, H., & Al-Tawil, T. N. (2021). Hospitality workers' reward and recognition. International Journal of Law & Management, 63(2), 157–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLMA-02-2020-0046</u>

Yukl, G., & Gardner, W. L. (2020). Leadership in organizations (9th ed.). Pearson

- Yusof, H. M., Rahman, R. H. A., & Leen, M. W. E. (2019). Organizational commitment among knowledge workers: A review. *Role(s) and Relevance of Humanities for Sustainable Development (68)*, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2019.09.1</u>
- Yusuf, Z. M., & Yee, B. (2020). The impact of work environment on job satisfaction and stress among haemodialysis nurses in Malaysia: A concept paper. *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation*, 24, 888-897.

https://doi.org/10.37200/ijpr/v24i4/pr201062

- Zhang, L., & Liu, Z. (2018). Ethical issues in research processes: Informed consent, the role of the researcher, Access to research sites and research subjects. *Proceedings* of the 2nd International Conference on Culture, Education and Economic Development of Modern Society (ICCESE 2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/iccese-18.2018.117</u>
- Zhen, Y. (2020). A review on employees' voluntary turnover from the psychological perspective. *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation*, 24(3), 2304-2309. https://doi.org/10.37200/IJPR/V24I3/PR200978
- Zivkovic, A., Fosic, I., & Starcevic, D. P. (2020). Employee turnover trends in Croatia.
 52nd International Scientific Conference on Economic and Social Development,
 155-162. <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Employee-Turnover-Trends-in-Croatia-%C5%BDivkovi%C4%87</u>

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- Greet the participant(s) and explain the purpose of my study and the interview.
- Present the consent form, review the contents, and answer any questions or concerns the participant(s) may have.
- 3. Provide a copy of the consent form to the participant(s).
- 4. Remind each participant that the interview will be audio-recorded and announce the start of the recording session.
- 5. Turn on the recording device.
- Match each participant(s) to the pseudonym code and denote the day, date, and time.
- 7. Start the interview beginning with question 1 and ending with question 6.
- 8. Conduct member-checking with the participant(s).
- 9. Thank the participant(s) for partaking in the study and reiterate my contact information for future questions.
- 10. End protocol.